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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at
31 March 2020:
UTARAREZRRAT (RRE) REMB AR (ZNEE) 1R2020F3831H 2 REBE :

SIIC Medical Science and
Technology (Group) Limited
3 +
£33

Public Shareholders
REBR

Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group)
AAEEBRAR(RALHE)

RXEEXFRAE

N TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED

(Stock code: 00455)

00455
100% 100% 100%
Tianda Chinese Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited Yunyg‘ B\O-P)Wﬁ“rr;oeunoa\ Co, L\T\ted
Medicine Limited (Note 2) EEEMH NG|
Note2) (HiiE2)
(FitiE2)
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
(
Tianda Chinese Tianda Pharmaceuticals Tianda Biotech Limited Tianda Pharmaceuticals
pre (Hong Kong) Limited Tianda Healthcare
Medicine Limited A sy Tanda Realy Limited Investment Limited
ARH AT . (Note2) est Nez : &
(Note 1) ) (Hist2) Noea
_ ) (Fif5E1) _
99.90%
Tianda Chinese 010% 100% 100%
Medicine Limited
Sociedade de Medicina Tianda Pharmaceuticals Tanda Realty
(China) Ltd.* (Hong Kong) Limited
(Note 3)
(BHHEE3)
—
TDMall (Group) Limited
010% Sociedade TDMall (Grupo) 100% 100%
° Limitada
AREBEE)ARAR Zhuhai Tianda Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Note d) Realty Ltd.* (Zhuhai) Ltd.*
(Pffat4) by )
100% i
TDMeall (China) Ltd.* (Hi3E5)
VAR \ J

RREE(PE

S NG|

Zhuhai TDMall Ltd.*

Shenzhen TDMall Ltd."
AR AR AR

TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited
AAE(EE)ERAT

100%

100%

Zhuhai Tianda Chinese

Medicine Research And
Development *
b2

’ (Note 5)

(Pt3E5)

WERAEERAR Processed Chinese
(Note 5) Herbal Medicine Ltd.*
(PtiEs) BRIGR AP EAR)
w Af
100% (Note 5)
Guangzhou TDMall Ltd. [GED)
BEMARALE
(Note &)
(BtaE5)
100%

100%

Zhuhai Tianda

Notes FfizE :

(1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability
FORAFEZMAIIZBRAE

(2)  Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
REBEARBEEEMBILZAERAR

(3)  Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability

Tianda Chinese REBEMRILZBRAR
Medicine Institute Limited
swceﬁ:g:adlenx‘eﬂ:fma (4)  Incorporated in Macau with limited liability
4% Tianda Limitada 9% FORPIEMA L Z B RAT
PN aR

(5) Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
RAEZMEIZIZARAR

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
E 4
Year ended 31 March
HEIBMBLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET TFET FET FET FERT
Revenue WA 192,785 195,539 361,555 527,003 491,475
Profit before tax Rk 52 A 5 ) 18,425 32,750 29,942 26,167 15,928
Income tax expense Frigfiz (5,058) (7,997) (7,780) (10,184) (7,128)
Profit for the year KEEGF 13,367 24,753 22,162 15,983 8,800
Profit attributable to: BB
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEE) 6,569 12,442 10,008 2,657 3,143
Non-controlling interests JEEERR R 6,798 12,311 12,154 13,326 5,657
13,367 24,753 22,162 15,983 8,800
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
B AL AL A Al
Earnings per share SRET 0.32 0.58 0.47 0.12 0.15
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEERERH
At 31 March
#3831
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FERT
Total assets BEEHEE 956,169 904,120 1,045,308 996,769 933,123
Total liabilities & EEE (109,436) (91,156)  (159,723)  (185,803)  (173,360)
846,733 812,964 885,585 810,966 759,763
Equity attributable to owners B’ATIBR R
of the parent FE1£$‘““ 813,748 778,322 847,728 777,203 722,777
Non-controlling interests JEFERGHE T 32,985 34,642 37,857 33,763 36,986
846,733 812,964 885,585 810,966 759,763
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EREE TS

REVENUE Ug A BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE FSREXK
HK$'000 T8 7T HK CENT 711 BRI
2020 491,475 2020 0.15

2019 527,003 2019 0.12

2018 361,555 2018 047

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO BATRE EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO BATIRE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT PEAL 357 OWNERS OF THE PARENT FE1h
HK$'000 T 7T HK$'000 77T

2020 3,143 2020 722,777

2019 2,657 2019 777,203
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 51, was appointed as an executive
Director since 6 October 2003. He is currently the Chairman, the
Managing Director, the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee and the risk management
committee of the Company, and a director of the Group’s certain
subsidiaries. Mr. Fang is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner
of Tianda Group Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company
holding 1,194,971,370 Shares). Mr. Fang is the existing chairman of
the board of directors, general manager and authorized representative
of Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations Systems, company code: 837889).
Mr. Fang studied International Relations in the University of Sydney and
Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate strategy
and management. He established a non-profit strategic studies think
tank named “Tianda Institute”. Upholding the mission of “Caring for
a Better World”, Mr. Fang always shows his greater commitment to
community services, including donations to the poverties, education and
talent development, healthcare, scientific research and environmental
protection, culture and arts.

Mr. LUI Man Sang, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 30 September 2013 and is a director of the Group’s
certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy general manager
of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial issues of Tianda
Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of Tianda Culture
Holdings (China) Limited (listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, company code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses enriched
financial management experience covering a variety of industries
including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in Hong
Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong listed
company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. SHEN Bo, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of the audit committee of the Company on 10 August 2015.
He is a non-practicing member of certified public accountant of the
People’s Republic of China. He received his bachelor degree majoring
in accounting from Shanghai Institute of Construction Materials Industry
and master of accountancy from Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Shen is the executive director, vice president and chief financial
officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.,* (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 601607,
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, with stock code 02607), the chairman of SPH Changzhou
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the chairman of Xiamen Traditional Chinese
Medicine Co., Ltd., the chairman of Shanghai Hefeng Pharmaceuticals
Limited and an executive director of China International Pharmaceutical
(Holding) Corporation Limited. Mr. Shen is a non-executive director
of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (a
company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code 1349).
Mr. Shen served as manager of finance department and chief financial
officer in several large companies in mainland China so has extensive
experience in corporate management, financial control, and governance
of pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March 2010, Mr. Shen
served as the head of financial planning department, general manager
of finance department and chief financial officer in Shanghai Industrial
Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company formerly listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607). During the
same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of finance
department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is the head of the finance
department of Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds
9.66% equity interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in
corporate financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined
Hongta in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to September
2014, he took various positions in the finance department of Hongta,
including deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy
head of asset management division and head of general management
division. He was also the head of financial planning division of Yunnan
Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hongta, during
the period from June 2013 to August 2014. Mr. Feng obtained his
bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in 2001 and master in business administration
at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng possesses the
qualification of practising certified public accountant in mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Dr. LAM Lee G., aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 1 January 2018. Dr. Lam holds a
BSc in sciences and mathematics, an MSc in systems science and
an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, a post-graduate
diploma in public administration from Carleton University in Canada,
a post-graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong Law and an LLB
(Hons) in law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a
LLM in law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK, a PCLL in
law from the City University of Hong Kong, a Certificate in Professional
Accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong SCS, an MPA
and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. A former member of
the Hong Kong Bar, Dr. Lam is a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong, an Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute
Resolution (CEDR), a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators,
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, the Institute of Public Accountants,
the Institute of Financial Accountants and Certified Management
Accountants (CMA) Australia; and an Honorary Fellow of Certified
Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility
Management and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education.

Dr. Lam has over 30 years of international experience in general
management, management consulting, corporate governance,
investment banking, direct investment and fund management across
the telecommunications/media/technology (TMT), consumer/healthcare,
infrastructure/real estate, energy/resources and financial services
sectors. He is Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport Management
Company Limited, and Non-Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and
ASEAN Region and the Chief Adviser to Macquarie Infrastructure and
Real Assets Asia.

Dr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government Committee on Innovation, Technology and
Re-Industrialization and the Court of the City University of Hong Kong,
Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government Home Affairs
Department, President of the United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business
Network (ESBN) Executive Council and Chairman of its Task Force
on Banking and Finance, a Board member of Pacific Basin Economic
Council (PBEC), a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council Belt and Road Committee and Convenor of its Digital Silk Road
Working Group, a member of the Sir Murray MacLehose Trust Fund
Investment Advisory Committee, a member of the Advisory Board of
the Hong Kong Investor Relations Association, Honorary Advisor to the
Hong Kong Business Angel Network (HKBAN), Honorary Chairman -
Asia Pacific of CMA Australia, Chairman of Monte Jade Science
and Technology Association of Hong Kong, and President of Hong
Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee and a
member of audit committee of the Company in 2004. On 26 November
2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee. He was
appointed as a member of nomination committee and risk management
committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam worked with Kwan Wong Tan
& Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Press Group Limited (stock code: 0018), which is
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 73, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He is admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
CNOOC Limited (stock code: 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. CHIU Fan Wa, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and audit committee of the Company on 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F. S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, United Kingdom, a fellow
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a Certified Tax
Advisor.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as Tianda Pharmaceuticals or the Group)
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the Current Financial Year) for
shareholders’ review.

For the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded consolidated
revenue from its principal activities of approximately HK$491,500,000,
representing a decrease of 6.7% as compared to approximately
HK$527,000,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 (FYE 2019). Gross
profit amounted to approximately HK$361,000,000, representing a
decrease of 14.9% as compared to approximately HK$424,100,000 for
the FYE 2019. The sales revenue of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, increased from
approximately HK$177,000,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$245,600,000 for the Current Financial Year. The sales revenue
of Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. decreased from
approximately HK$328,000,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$196,600,000 for the Current Financial Year, mainly due to the
removal of Cerebroprotein hydrolysate from the new national medical
insurance catalog in 2020. During the Current Financial Year, the sales
revenue of the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business as a whole
increased significantly from approximately HK$13,500,000 for the FYE
2019 to approximately HK$32,100,000. With the Group’s unwavering
focus on cost control, the overall expenses decreased significantly
and profit attributable to shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$3,143,000, representing an increase of approximately 18.3% as
compared to approximately HK$2,657,000 for the FYE 2019. The Group
declared a final dividend of HK 0.13 cent per share (2019: HK 0.11 cent
per share), amounting to approximately HK$2,795,054.

During the Current Financial Year, in light of the introduction of
new measures in Mainland China’s healthcare reform and the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic on business models, the pharmaceutical
industry faced both challenges and opportunities. The Group responded
proactively to the policy changes under the healthcare reform through
various initiatives such as innovating its sales model, further exploring
domestic and overseas markets, strengthening the R&D of new
products and facilitating new product collaboration, so as to strengthen
and expand its generic drugs business and promote the growth of its
innovative medicine business; at the same time, in line with national
policy, the Group comprehensively promoted the development of the
TCM business with a special focus on building TDMall, a modern
Chinese medicine clinic chain dedicated to providing quality traditional
Chinese medicine services emphasizing “specialties for special illness,
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

effective result by featured treatments, combination of recovery and
health-preservation, and harmony between nature and mankind”.
TDMall seeks to expand across China and the world by leveraging on
its foundation in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area
and strives to become the leading brand among the Chinese medicine
clinic chains in the market. During the Current Financial Year, the Group
opened two flagship TDMalls, one in Zhuhai, Guangdong and another
in Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. Meanwhile, the Group made full use
of Internet information technology, big data, artificial intelligence and
other innovative technologies to establish the “Cloud TDMall”. This will
realize the integration of online and offline Chinese medicine services,
remote diagnosis and treatment and joint expert consultation services,
and enable the provision of quality, convenient and comprehensive
Chinese medicine healthcare services to the public, thereby positioning
the Group as the forerunner in promoting the heritage, development and
promotion of Chinese medicine.

As the COVID-19 pandemic spread across the globe in early
2020, Chinese medicine was comprehensively used and played an
important role in the fight against the disease in Mainland China. At
the early stage of the pandemic, the Group promptly collaborated with
a long list of authoritative TCM experts and successfully developed
TDMall’'s TCM Anti-Epidemic Formulae series comprising Anti-Epidemic
Formula 1 (for prevention), Anti-Epidemic Formula 2 (for remedy) and
Anti-Epidemic Formula 3 (for rehabilitation). The Group then launched
anti-epidemic campaigns in Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau, to
provide complimentary TCM consultation and Anti-Epidemic Formula
1 to more than 1,000 individuals to assist in the fight against the
pandemic, and the response from the community was overwhelming.
Subsequent to the end of the Current Financial Year, “Anti-epidemic
Formula I” granules was included in the list of registered medicines of
the Therapeutic Goods Administration in Australia in April 2020. It marks
the first Chinese medicine with preventive effect against influenza and
novel coronavirus to be registered outside of China, signifying a major
step forward for this TCM anti-epidemic product’s international roll-out.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
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The sudden outbreak of COVID-19 has made us deeply aware of
the close connection among people in different parts of the world. The
Group put its responsibility and commitment into practice, and helped
people to fight against the pandemic by offering its TCM anti-epidemic
products and TCM services. We will also seize the market opportunities
in the post-pandemic era to promote TCM for improving human health
through the provision of quality TCM products and services with the
support of “Cloud TDMall’. To this end, the Group has adjusted and
enriched its development strategy to embrace “three developments” as
the core, namely “the development of the Chinese medicine business
as the foundation, the development of innovative medicines and medical
technologies and the development of quality medical and healthcare
services”, and has implemented a “two-pronged” development model
of “promoting endogenous growth alongside increased efforts in
exogenous growth”, striving to become an outstanding operator and
service provider in the field of pharmaceutical and healthcare.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our clients, staff, business partners and shareholders for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group, and also the Board
of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious
business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R mEE ST

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue from its principal activities of approximately
HK$491,500,000, representing a decrease of approximately 6.7%
as compared to approximately HK$527,000,000 for the FYE 2019.
Gross profit decreased by 14.9% from approximately HK$424,100,000
for the FYE 2019 to approximately HK$361,000,000 for the Current
Financial Year. The gross profit margin decreased by 7.0 percentage
points from 80.5% in the FYE 2019 to 73.5% in the Current Financial
Year. For the Current Financial Year, the Group’s profit for the year
was approximately HK$8,800,000, which was affected by the medical
reform in Mainland China and the COVID-19 pandemic, representing a
decrease of 45.0% as compared to approximately HK$16,000,000 for
the FYE 2019. However, under the Group’s stringent cost controls, profit
attributable to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$3,143,000,
representing an increase of 18.3% as compared to approximately
HK$2,657,000 for the FYE 2019. Basic and diluted earnings per share
were HK0.146 cent (FYE 2019: HK0.124 cent).

For the Current Financial Year, sales revenue of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) Ltd. (Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, increased by 38.8% from
approximately HK$177,000,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$245,600,000 for the Current Financial Year. In particular, the
sales revenue of Tuoping (Valsartan capsules) and Tuoen (Ibuprofen
suspension), both being Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)’'s main
products, increased by 67.8% and 31.8% respectively as compared to
that for the FYE 2019. Profit contribution from Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) increased by 102.4% from approximately HK$16,900,000 for
the FYE 2019 to approximately HK$34,200,000 for the Current Financial
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E RS T

The sales revenue of Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical) decreased by 40.0% from
approximately HK$328,000,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$196,600,000 for the Current Financial Year. The decrease in sales
revenue was mainly due to the fact that under the impact of adjustments
in national medical insurance policies, sales volume of Cerebroprotein
Hydrolysate were down nearly 35.6% as compared to that of FYE 2019,
with the sales amount decreased from approximately HK$268,500,000
for the FYE 2019 to approximately HK$140,000,000 for the Current
Financial Year, representing a decrease of nearly 47.9%. Profit
decreased by 57.4% from approximately HK$29,600,000 for the FYE
2019 to approximately HK$12,600,000 for the Current Financial Year.
Profit contribution from Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical to the Group, after
tax, amounted to approximately HK$8,400,000, representing a decrease
of 42.5% as compared to approximately HK$14,600,000 for the FYE
2019.

For the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business, the
sales revenue of the Chinese medicinal herbs and TCM decoction
pieces business doubled to approximately HK$32,100,000 (FYE
2019: approximately HK$13,500,000). However, as the business was
still in the stage of integration following the acquisition as well as
market development requiring a large amount of market development
capital investment, the operating loss of the business widened from
approximately HK$8,800,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$10,000,000 for the Current Financial Year. Meanwhile, as
anticipating revenue growth to be less than its original estimation due
to policies and market influences, it was required to make a provision
for impairment of approximately HK$2,900,000 for goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the medicinal herbs and TCM decoction pieces project
previously. For the investment in and operation of the modern Chinese
medicine clinic chain, the Group successfully launched clinics during the
Current Financial Year, opening one flagship TDMall in each of Zhuhai,
Guangdong province and Causeway Bay, Hong Kong in May 2019
and February 2020 respectively. However, substantial investment was
required in the initial stage of operation which led to an operating loss
of approximately HK$9,100,000 in the Current Financial Year for the
TDMall business.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R mEE ST

Selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately
HK$344,700,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately HK$282,200,000
for the Current Financial Year, representing a decrease of 18.1%.
The Group strengthened the integration and optimization of marketing
resources, implemented stringent cost controls, which resulted in a
decrease in selling and distribution expenses that far outweighed the
decrease in sales revenue. Administrative expenses increased from
approximately HK$63,300,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately
HK$67,800,000 for the Current Financial Year, which was mainly due to
the increase in administrative expenses incurred for the development of
the TCM business.

The Group recorded other income and other net gains
(excluding impairment of goodwill) of approximately HK$9,700,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$7,200,000 as compared
to approximately HK$16,900,000 for the FYE 2019, which was mainly
due to: 1) the Group’s bank balances declined due to the investment in
the construction of the new R&D and production base project, coupled
with the decrease in bank deposit interest rates, interest income from
bank deposits and structured deposits decreased from approximately
HK$13,000,000 for the FYE 2019 to approximately HK$8,700,000
for the Current Financial Year; and (2) the Group’s income from
government subsidies for the Current Financial Year was less than that
of the FYE 2019, which decreased from approximately HK$3,400,000 to
approximately HK$360,000.

The Group’s financial position remained strong. As at 31 March
2020, the Group’s structured deposits, bank deposits, and bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$315,900,000. The
construction of the Group’s new R&D and production base in Jinwan
District, Zhuhai, China continued to progress. As at 31 March 2020,
the Group’s total investment in the construction in progress amounted
to approximately HK$115,700,000 while as at 31 March 2020, the
Group’s capital commitments in respect of the construction of the new
R&D and production base amounted to approximately HK$132,100,000.
In addition, the Group successfully secured bank loans dedicated for
the new R&D and production base project. Together with the Group’s
own bank deposits and cash reserves, the Group would have sufficient
resources available to meet the funds required for the completion of the
project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E RS T

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Current Financial Year, although healthcare
policies reform in Mainland China and the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic had adverse impact on the Group’s operations, there were
opportunities. The Group responded proactively and formulated targeted
strategies. By continuing the integration in the areas of R&D, marketing
and management resources, the Group made remarkable progress in
strengthening and expanding its generic drugs business and developing
of the TCM business comprehensively.

During the Current Financial Year, the marketing team grasped
the opportunity of medical organizations increasing their purchase
volume of basic medicine and unleashed the advantage of value
for money in the Group’s products in the national bidding and price
linkage mechanism, which facilitated the steady improvement of
revenue of certain major products, including Valsartan capsules and
Ibuprofen suspension, and maintained a focus on hospital, retail
pharmacies and tertiary end customers, and established a foundation
for the launch of the Company’s strategic reserve products and new
products from strategic cooperation. However, revision to the medical
insurance policies brought larger challenges, of which the removal
of Cerebroprotein hydrolysate from the medical insurance catalogue
in 2020 caused a larger impact. Our marketing team endeavoured to
maintain those markets still included in the medical insurance catalog.
For the regions that ceased to be in the medical insurance catalog, it
endeavoured to maintain supply of hospital medicine and boost sales
volume by developing private hospitals, county-level public hospitals
and rural public hospitals end customers. Meanwhile, it actively explored
overseas markets such as India, Vietham and the Philippines. “Herb
Valley” series healthcare product business continued to establish
Manuka Honey as its flagship product. By broadening its channel
penetration through online and offline sales networks and launching
new products to expand its consumer base and create brand marketing
impact, it further expanded its footprint in Mainland China, Hong Kong
and Australia, and would enter into the US and European markets at the
appropriate time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R mEE ST

During the Current Financial Year, the R&D team was relentless
in implementing the Group’s strategies and satisfying market
demands, with various research and development work continued to
progress steadily: 1) conformity assessment of Valsartan capsules
was completed and application for registration submitted and duly
admitted to proceed by the drug approval center; evidence work for the
conformity assessment of Ibuprofen suspension was completed, the
selection process of research partners commenced and negotiation has
begun; 2) upon sufficient due diligence and research, the Bivalirudin
for injection and Nicorandil for injection projects would be commenced
and a cooperation on the introduction of Decitabine products would
be considered; 3) TCM anti-epidemic formulae namely “Anti-Epidemic
Formula 1” (for prevention), “Anti-Epidemic Formula 2” (for remedy) and
“Anti-Epidemic Formula 3" (for rehabilitation) were developed, of which
“Anti-Epidemic Formula 1" granules included in the registered medicines
list of the Therapeutic Goods Administration in Australia at the end of
April 2020, all of the formulae were developed in collaboration with
a long list of authoritative TCM experts, after carrying out in-depth
investigation of the cause and pathogenesis of the COVID-19 outbreak,
integrating the theory and practice of TCM with modern pharmacological
research, prescribing medicinal substances and combining classical
formulae in a scientific and balanced manner; and the pharmacological
study and clinical trials and observations for “Anti-Epidemic Formula
1”, TDMall's first pharmaceutical preparation for medical institution
was launched; 4) continued to promote the R&D of Classic Ancient
Prescription TCM compound prescriptions; 5) Applied cerebroprotein
extraction technology in the development of daily chemical and food
products; 6) developed TCM healthcare products such as tea bags,
soup packages and TCM paste, healthcare medication food, and mask
collections in line with TDMall business to satisfy market demand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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For its Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business, 1) Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd devoted to the development of a one-stop
traceability system covering the harvesting, supply and sales of medical
herbs and to the establishment of quality standards for local varieties,
so as to implement a diversified business model and expand the
logistics business of TCM speciality-decoction pieces to supply for all
medical institutions in the Pearl River Region, Guangdong Province
and nationwide with the aim to establish its in-house brand of “Tianda
Chinese Medicine”; 2) Since Zhuhai Tianda Processed Chinese Herbal
Medicine Ltd. resumed production in April 2019, the Group organized
over a hundred batches of production in total for 74 varieties of TCM
decoction pieces in accordance with the GMP requirements. All
products passed inspection in one trial, ensuring its high quality and
our products had a price advantage over competitive products with
similar quality within the industry. Currently a total of 423 types of TCM
decoction pieces have been filed for record, covering all ginseng and
fine and precious products; 3) Tianda Chinese Medicine Institute and
Zhuhai Tianda Chinese Medicine Research and Development Ltd.*(
BRiBR AR EEMFTFAEHFRAE) strictly established the “Tianda
Standard” for regulating the quality of Chinese medicinal herbs and
conformed closely to the objectives of “Thirteenth Five-year Plan on
National Drug Safety”. The Institute is committed to “establishing the
strictest standard” and is clinical needs oriented in order to match
international advanced standards, and has completed the development
of over 200 types of Chinese medicinal herbs and decoction pieces with
Tianda Standard. The Group has initiated the TDMall benchmarking
service to comprehensively build “Tianda Chinese Medicine” as a brand
with high quality.

*

For identification purpose only
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For the new style TCM clinic chain, Zhuhai TDMall was opened
on 2 May 2019 and Hong Kong TDMall was opened on 24 February
2020. The third TDMall will be opened at an appropriate time. TDMall
offers “Chinese Medicine Services of ten specialties”, namely TCM
Gynecology, TCM Paediatrics, TCM Geriatrics, TCM Orthopaedics,
TCM Bone Traumatology, TCM Pain Management, TCM Aesthetic
Medical, provides traditional medical services, namely acupuncture
and massage, and also traditional healthcare products including TCM
paste, soup packages and tea bags. In addition, it will launch a series
of speciality-services package. Meanwhile, with physical TDMalls as a
foundation, the Group has created “Cloud TDMall” to realize online and
offline integration of Chinese medicine services and provision of remote
diagnosis and treatment and joint experts consultation services. From
February 2020 to April 2020, the Group offered free TCM consultations
and complimentary “Anti-Epidemic Formula 1” to over one thousand
individuals in Zhuhai TDMall, Hong Kong TDMall and Macau jointly
with Macau Federation of Neighbourhood Associations (Unido Geral
das Associacbes dos Moradores de Macau). After being listed in the
Australian Register of Therapeutic Goods in April 2020, “Anti-Epidemic
Formula 1” is expected to be available in the Australian market in July
2020 while the launch of Sydney TDMall is under preparation.

During the Current Financial Year, the construction of the
new R&D and production base of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)
progressed in full swing, with some delay caused by the COVID-19
outbreak. As the outbreak is being brought under control, the
construction team has been expediting its work to make up for the
delay. At present, the pile foundation and the acceptance of the pile
foundation as well as the main structure and the acceptance of the main
structure have been completed. The project is expected to be completed
in 2020.

The conditional sale agreement entered between the Group
and its controlling shareholder, Tianda Group Limited, was approved
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 7 May 2019. The Group
will be able to exercise the disposal right to sell the existing R&D
and production base in Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai to Tianda Group
Limited upon the completion of the first phase of the new R&D and
production base project and the satisfaction of prerequisite conditions
for completion of the transaction as stated in the agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E RS T

OUTLOOK

The sudden outbreak of COVID-19 has made us deeply aware of
the close connection among people in different parts of the world. The
Group put its responsibility and commitment into practice, and helped
people to fight against the pandemic by offering its TCM anti-epidemic
products and TCM services. We will also seize the market opportunities
in the post-pandemic era to promote TCM for improving human health
through the provision of quality TCM products and services with the
support of “Cloud TDMall’. To this end, the Group has adjusted and
enriched its development strategy to embrace “three developments” as
the core, namely “the development of the Chinese medicine business
as the foundation, the development of innovative medicines and medical
technologies and the development of quality medical and healthcare
services”, and has implemented a “two-pronged” development model
of “promoting endogenous growth alongside increased efforts in
exogenous growth”, striving to become an outstanding operator and
service provider in the field of pharmaceutical and healthcare.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity continued to stay in a healthy position.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had structured deposits, short term
bank deposits and cash of approximately HK$315,900,000 (31 March
2019: HK$451,100,000), of which approximately 8.6% and 91.0% were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi (RMB) respectively with
the remaining in Australian dollar, Euro, Macau pataca, New Taiwan
dollar and United States dollar. With this strong financial position, the
Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations and daily
operational needs.
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EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar.

The Group has sales which use currencies other than its
functional currency RMB. As such, the Group has some exposures to
foreign currency risks. The management from time to time determines
suitable measures, such as entering into forward currency contracts, to
lessen exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions
denominated in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into
any forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at
31 March 2020.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged certain right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment and assets of a disposal group
held for sale with carrying value approximately HK$272,800,000 (2019:
nil) in aggregate to secure a bank loan facility grant to the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed approximately
573 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms and the
qualifications and experience of the employees concerned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the CG Code) in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the Listing Rules) during the FYE2020 except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing. Having considered the current business operation and the size
of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
will review this situation periodically.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

Annual Report 2020
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The Board currently consists of 8 Directors, comprising 2
executive Directors, 3 non-executive Directors and 3 independent
non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Dr. Lam Lee G.

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

The Board believes that the balance between executive Directors
and non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs and non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has established procedures to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their duties at
the Company’s expenses. The articles of association of the Company
contain description of responsibility and operation procedures of the
Board. The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
FYE2020:

. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and

regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.
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All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the FYE2020.

Directors’ meeting

During the FYE2020, the Board held 4 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors BEE HE BOTEERY
Executive Directors : WiTES
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BXERE 414

(Chairman and Managing Director) (EERFEFHLIE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 414
Non-executive Directors : EHTES:
Mr. Shen Bo LR E 4/4
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPARE 4/4
Dr. Lam Lee G. MERBEL 414
INEDs : BiUERITES:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai wHEERE 414
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 414
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HMELE 414
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The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting during the FYE2020
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, the non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the
FYE2020 are as follows:
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Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one executive
Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the chairman of
the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the FYE2020, the nomination committee held 2 meetings.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Attended/Held

HEBITEERY

Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman) FXRESRE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Lam Yat Fai wHEERE 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 212

During the FYE2020, the nomination committee had reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and made recommendation to the Board on
the re-election of retiring Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out
the approach on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board in
enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. A diverse
board will include and make good use of difference in the skills, industry
knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities,
etc. of Directors and does not discriminate on the ground of race, age
gender or religious belief. These differences will be taken into account
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting to the board diversity.

Appointments of directors will be based on merit and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

At present, the nomination committee has not set any measurable
objectives to implement the board diversity policy. However, it will
consider and review the board diversity policy and setting of any
measurable objectives from time to time.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of appointing
and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing
the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such candidate’s
academic background and professional qualifications, relevant
experience in the industry, character and integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board periodically
and make recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is necessary
to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional director, the nomination
committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended to the
committee pursuant to the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.
Based upon the recommendation of the nomination committee, the
Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, pursuant
to the articles of association of the Company, every director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at least once every
three years and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual general
meeting. The nomination committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company, expertise and professional qualifications
of the retiring directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the
annual general meeting, to determine whether such director continues
to meet the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE EZZEY

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company, BREEGNEBREARAATRZ=EE
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa I IFHITEE > BIMBEHELRE - BERL
and one non-executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the 4 - M FELER—BIERITEFT LKL

chairman of the audit committee. $ MHEBEXTEAERZEGERE o
The role and function of the audit committee include the EZEZEGHBERMEESEUTE
followings: IH .
«  review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence c REREERN RERIEZE
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in MELBIEBRZBIEFEDS

accordance with applicable standard,;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the FYE2020, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details
of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held

HE BITEERY

Mr. Lam Yat Fai (Chairman) HWEESRE (F/EF) 212
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERERE 212
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa W ERE 212
Mr. Shen Bo R 212
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The work performed by the audit committee during the FYE2020
includes the followings:

. review the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2019 and for the six months ended 30 September
2019;

. consider and approve of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor; and

. review the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.

During the FYE2020, the risk management committee held 1
meeting. Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors
such as depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the directors of the Company may consider relevant
from time to time. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the Model Code) of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the FYE2020.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and other services, including
reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year provided
by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, the external
auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,445,000 and HK$589,350
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 61 to 67.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks;

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group — regular
meetings with each business unit to ensure principals risk are
properly managed, and new or changing risks are identified;

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls — review of the annual internal audit report and
consideration of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.
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The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

There is no material internal control deficiency that may affect the
shareholders of the Company which has come to the attention of the
Audit Committee or the Board. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Company has complied with code provisions C.2.1 and C.2.2 on internal
controls as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the FYE2020, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the Audit Committee.

In respect of the FYE2020, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
have been identified. The Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would take further steps to
continually improve its risk management and internal control systems.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a Policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with
the company secretary of the Company is Mr. Wong Man Yuk, Financial
Controller. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the FYE2020, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company employs a range of communication tools to ensure
its shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. Procedure for voting by poll had been
read out at the general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were
taken by poll. The Company announced results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The 2019 AGM of the Company was held on 28 August 2019.
A notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 26 July
2019 was dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2019 annual
report. A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the
meeting in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of
Directors. Besides, an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) of the
Company was held on 7 May 2019

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
executive Director, Dr. Lam Lee G., the non-executive Director and two
INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the
EGM to answer questions raised from shareholders. Each of Mr. Shen
Bo and Mr. Feng Quanming, the non-executive Directors and Mr. Chiu
Sung Hong, INED, was unable to attend the EGM due to his other
business commitment.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
executive Director and two INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai and
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer questions raised from
shareholders. Each of Mr. Shen Bo, Mr. Feng Quanming and Dr.
Lam Lee G., the non-executive Directors and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong,
INED, was unable to attend the 2019 AGM due to his other business
commitment. No other general meeting was held during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.

Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the FYE2020, the
Group promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.
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The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:
Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558
Email: investor_relations@tianda.com

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the EGM). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.

(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any 2 or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per cent of such of the paid
up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.
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If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquire to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information
of the requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of
business of Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to
direct_enquiries@tianda.com for the attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to put forward
new resolution at general meetings other than a proposal of a person
for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the FYE 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are research and development,
manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
products. The Group also engages in the sales and wholesales of
Chinese Herbal Medicines, Traditional Chinese Medicine decoction
pieces and Chinese medicines and the provision of Chinese medical
services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 containing a fair review of the business during the year and
discussion of future business development of the Group and the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the
sections headed “Report of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” from pages 15 to 17 and pages 18 to 26 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders will be covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report”. The
ESG Report will be published in the due course.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results
by segment for the FYE2020 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the FYE2020, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 15.6% of the Group’s total revenue
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
4.6% of the Group’s total revenue. In addition, for the year ended
31 March 2020, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 37.3% of the Group’s total purchases while the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 17.0% of the Group’s
total purchases.

During the FYE2020, to the knowledge of the Directors,
Tianda Group and Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited (Hongta)
indirectly hold the respective of 60% and 40% equity interest in
HEKERERMMAENFBEEMRAE (Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng
Printing Company Ltd.) (Cheng Cheng Printing) which is one of the five
major suppliers of the Group.
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Except for the above-disclosed, none of the Directors, associates
of Director or Shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge
of the Directors owes more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the Company’s five major suppliers or five major
customers during the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income pages 68 to 69.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.13 cent (2019: HK0.11 cent) per share for the FYE2020, subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2020 annual general meeting
(the AGM). The final dividend is expected to be paid on or before
Wednesday, 23 September 2020 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 10
September 2020.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 7 September 2020 to Thursday, 10 September 2020 (both day
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed forms of transfers
with the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 4 September 2020.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out pages 8 to 9 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the FYE2020 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
FYE2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on page 72 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$112,744,324. Moreover, the share premium account
of the Company may be distributed, provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 March 2020, the
Company’s share premium account amounted to HK$355,702,578.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the FYE2020 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Dr. Lam Lee G.

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Fang Wen Quan, Mr. Lui Man Sang and Mr. Chiu
Sung Hong shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Being eligible, they will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

INEDs and non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2020, the interests of the Company’s Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO), were as
follows:

Annual Report 2020

EFRHBESH

BRE SRS AT I AR T T
B (BE R B 5D) TR AT 3 — £ PO P
B AE 2 EIRBS I o

EFNRGRAEMRG ZED

122020638318 » RFEF R E R
B (BRZEBIEE) EFRAERSG) 5
AR A RBIFFFEELMZECER > NAF
ZEF EBTHRABRBEZHEAR
ARB R HBHEE 2 R RABRRA R
HmHEZEmINT

Shares of the Company TATRG
Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EENR 515 Frfsiein &8 Bt
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note)
BXERE REZFEFE (Ht52)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme previously adopted on 13
July 2010 will expire on 12 July 2020 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”).
Under the Old Share Option Scheme, no option has been granted since
its adoption.

The adoption of the New Share Option Scheme (the “New
Scheme”) will be proposed at the upcoming annual general meeting on
28 August 2020 and subject to the approval by the shareholders. The
relevant details of the New Scheme will be set out in the circular (the
“Circular”) of the Company dated 29 July 2020 which will be despatched
to the shareholders together with this annual report. Unless otherwise
defined, the capitalized terms set out herein shall have the same
meanings as set out in the Circular.

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the New Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain
such important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship,
with participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success
and benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit
and retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their
past contributions.

Subject to the approval by the shareholders at the upcoming
AGM, the New Scheme will be for a period of 10 years from the date
of adoption on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion,
make an offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed
to have been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and
paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the New
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.
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The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the New Scheme. An option may
be exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the New Scheme in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number
of shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in
excess of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

As at the date of this annual report, no share option has been
granted by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Old Share Option Scheme and New Scheme of
the Company disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate and none of the Directors nor any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 had any rights to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the
year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liability incurred by him as such director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2020, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant

interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:
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FERR

2020538310 » RIBF S R EK
BB IE A AT FIEEZ FERFECM
Fim FOIREREMEAQARNEEREES
NES%HIU LB BITRAZABRIRER :

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
RRRBIE 515 FiEZRIH#E Bt
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
AREH BEEEAA (Hfaz1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
B XERE RELEER (Hfaz1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (SMST)
EIEEXRERK (5FE) BEEBA (Hfaz2)
BRAR (L EEE)
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) (Note 2)
LT EBBEEERMAERAT REZEEFAR (Ht5t2)
(BB
Shanghai Industrial Investment Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (SIIC) (Note 2)
EEEX (EE) BARAE REZFEFE (Htz£2)
(LEER®)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

Limited (Hongta)
AEEE (EE) BIR
BERT (K1)

Notes:

(1) These 1,194,971,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr.
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly,
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,194,971,370 shares

owned by Tianda Group.

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be

k

BmBEBEA

interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST.
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31
March 2020, no short position was recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 March 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the FYE2020, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Major and Connected Transactions

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong Kong)
Limited (“TPHK”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, entered into
an agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, Tianda Group
grants a conditional disposal right (“Disposal Right”) to TPHK. Pursuant
to the Disposal Right, upon fulfilment of all of the triggering conditions,
TPHK shall inform Tianda Group to acquire, either by Tianda Group
itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiary, and Tianda Group shall,
without any discretion, acquire the entire equity interest in Zhuhai
Tianda Realty Ltd. (“Zhuhai Realty”) from TPHK at a consideration
of RMB125 million (equivalent to approximately HK$145 million) plus
the cash at bank of Zhuhai Realty as at the Closing Date, which the
consideration shall not be more than RMB145 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$168.2 million) in any event. The transactions were
approved by independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 7 May 2019. Details of the transactions are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019.

The above transactions constitute a major transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Tianda Group, in
which its entire equity interests are owned by Mr. Fang Wen Quan,
the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company, is interested in
approximately 55.58% of the issued share capital of the Company. As
such, Tianda Group is a connected person of the Company and the
abovementioned transactions also constitute non-exempted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the FYE2020, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of this continuing
connected transaction which is subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 16 May 2018, a Framework Agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited
(“TCH (China)”) for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years for commencing from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021.

On 28 February 2020, the Company and TCH (China) entered
into a Supplemental Agreement to extent the contract period of the
Framework Agreement till 31 March 2022.

TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Framework
Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement and the transactions
contemplated under these Framework Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 16 May 2018 and 28 February 2020,
respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2020 as shown as follows:
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LRRFFERERZIR2020M REEZ
FELRARBEEREZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EuESE FELR BERZZEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBERIREE - BRI R

packaging boxes and related 8 R R AR 7S

products and services 14,000,000 4,061,071

PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 26 March 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.* (SPHL)
for a 3-year term commencing from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021 and
it is expected that the Group and SPHL Group will from time to time
enter into transactions by providing products (including pharmaceutical
products, Chinese medicines and healthcare products) and logistics
services to each other during the ordinary and usual course of business.

As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated under the Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 March 2018 and 31 January 2019,
respectively.

e {5 2 o B YR B B AR 75

201853 H26H » A E 8 5B EE
EERGERAR (LEBE) H:T—7m=
FHAMMEZR 7% © HAPRIR20185F4 B 1H %A
F2021F3IBNH - RFEHAEEE F5E
EZEET—RERHEERAREP - BER
REEmSAHEER (BIEME - PERK
RIEE R RIREYRECERTS ©

L EREAXRATNEERE > B
FAEEATBRITRAM3.05% 2% » 1R
B EHRAE4AT > EEBERAAEXA
TIMREA L - AL ERBEKREIET
R THZERABRAATELHR
BITFTHFERERS - ARXZFERH
H A A B B BA 4201843826 H K 201941
B3HZAL -

B 57



58 ESEEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2020 as shown as follows:

LRFFERERZIR2020M REEZ
FELRARBEEREZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap ~ transaction amount
EBEE FEELR BRXSEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Products and logistics services LEBEnAERREEN
provided by SPHL Group to 7 i K YR B iR AR 7%
the Group 7,000,000 -
Products and logistics services AEER LBBEREHRDY
provided by the Group to SPHL Group E R B X BR 75 18,000,000 16,195,884

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young have provided a letter to
the Board confirming that the above continuing connected transactions:
1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

3. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcement(s).
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and complied with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the
FYE2020.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Deloitte) resigned as auditor of the
Company on 12 October 2017 and Ernst & Young was appointed as
auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy arising from the resignation
of Deloitte on 27 October 2017. Save as the disclosed above, there was
no change in auditor during the past 3 years.

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the FYE2020 have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ENVEE7 S e

e
EY::

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 168, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

REHEE

PR EstFEIR

HREBFFEERERFANEEN
i BAHTPRSMBRENEARS
EEMNFER BEEFHREEHRMASFER
REMBERRRHASRFETREN-
RAFEHEESHEHEBNER - 0t
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B EIEARETEFENFE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAINBEHMAEIRERRETFIA

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

BERACHEEEEREFG

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a carrying amount of HK$95.0
million and HK$30.5 million of goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries
and other intangible assets, respectively. During the year, HK$2.9
million was recognised as goodwill impairment in profit or loss.
PR2020F3/NE  AEERKRBHNBEASDRECELEEM
A P B IR & %8 99 51l #595,000,0007% 7T 52 30,500,000 7T © F
A 2 2,900,000 T TEHRm PR A EEBIRE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:
ESNBEREEELEEREZ TG
FEE .

(i)  engaging our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the terminal
growth rates and discount rates applied;

() ZAEMAVABEEERTEEER
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Key audit matter

RS EE

Annual Report 2020

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI BESMAEIERREFIR

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

BERECEYEERETE (&)

The Group’s management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill and other intangible assets related to the cash generating
units (“CGUs”) by estimating the recoverable amount based on value in
use calculation. The value in use of the CGUs was determined by the
management based on the operating cash flows forecast of the CGUs,
which required the use of key assumptions including the budgeted
revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rate based on
the management'’s business plan on operation of the CGUs, the current
market circumstances and management’s expectation of the market
development, as well as suitable discount rates.
EEEEEERBERABEAEASTRESEMBHEREE
TEUERMNBERECETLEEETREN G HEELE
INEREEREEERBREELEMNKERERERA
B HPEECANIEZERRCEENEEENRESELSE
AR EEBAINFERTRA - BEENENEREREX B
AHZERANEEENmRERNTEN  URKEERREER -

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in
the impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.

R 5T 80 E 8 ROR B ST P K B IR FE RY = K T B AR PR
BRNEAREEE R ALERERMANEAEEEE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the disclosure
of the balances of goodwill and other intangible assets are included in
notes 3, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEESFHERGFURBENECERL EEGRNRBHN
IR e MR RMIEES ~ 167017 ©

(if)

(if)

(il

(i)

(iv)

(iv)

testing the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry and
by benchmarking against historical results
and/or independent data;
REBEESHEBRITENDH > BB
BB T ARS8 I R LB LR
AR ;

evaluating the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BBLLRATAEFAELRE > E
MRRERENMHFRERIB T 2R
MRFIERAZIERE

testing a selection of data inputs used in
the cash flow forecasts against supporting
evidence, such as historical financial
information, latest market information
and benchmark companies’ financial
information; and
REXFHERS > NBEMHER
ENMTMBESNMEERATNGRFBEE
B AEHRERFERRERNITDE
B@A &

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of
impairment assessment in the consolidated
financial statements.
LR SR BRRPBERABETGEN
KREEEEN -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2020
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong
24 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeiEnRHEEEWEmR

Year ended 31 March 2020 &2 2020E3531H IFE/E

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
UE: AT BT
REVENUE KA 5 491,475,099 527,002,819
Cost of sales #H & AR A (130,461,240)  (102,923,092)
Gross profit EF 361,013,859 424,079,727
Other income, gains and losses HEWA -~ BEKkEE 5 6,830,824 16,934,667
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZH (282,232,399)  (344,673,402)
Administrative expenses THEH (67,806,657) (63,258,048)
Research and development expenses MEE sz (1,503,925) (6,915,847)
Finance costs =% 7 (373,944) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bk 52 A i Y 6 15,927,758 26,167,097
Income tax expense PRSIz 10 (7,127,552) (10,184,154)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A RF 8800206  15982,043
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS HE2EGHE
Other comprehensive loss that will not be RIEBHEFTEENTHE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent AR BEEZEEE
periods:
Changes in fair value of equity investments BEAEAMEESA
designated at fair value through other HezElkEz
comprehensive income RELEZ AR
EBEEZH (7,684,127) (8,788,452)
Exchange differences on translation of BREXQTHBRR
the Company'’s financial statements FREEZERERE (9,347,577) (11,051,043)
(17,031,704)  (19,839.495)
Other comprehensive loss that may be REER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EETEAED
periods: BEZ2EEE .
Exchange differences on translation of MBEBINEBFREEZ
foreign operations ERELE (40,606,598) (48,364,452)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEEHERZEGE
FOR THE YEAR (57,638,302)  (68,203,947)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEEREAEAE
FOR THE YEAR (48,838,006)  (52,221,004)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEELRHESERER

Year ended 31 March 2020 & Z 20203531 H IFE/E
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2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
ffd s BT BT
Profit for the year attributable to: EAEREERF
Owners of the parent BAGIKRE 3,142,995 2,657,173
Non-controlling interests JEIERER 5,657,211 13,325,770
8,800,206 15,982,943
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE{E2mE
attributable to: (B538) /Wnza4a%s
Owners of the parent BREIKRE (52,060,984) (62,804,615)
Non-controlling interests JEERR R 3,222,888 10,583,611
(48,838,006)  (52,221,004)
HK cent HK cent
p= 311 B
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEZFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EtEsrRER
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HEAK#E 13 0.146 0.124
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEMEIRR

At 31 March 2020 ¢ 20204 35 31H

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
B s BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRKHE 14 169,904,578 95,560,915
Right-of-use assets FERESE 15(b) 40,689,342 -
Prepaid land lease payments AT ERE 15(a) = 38,248,463
Goodwill e 16 95,014,628 104,827,352
Other intangible assets HeEBFEE 17 30,506,557 28,486,293
Deposit for acquisition of items of property, USEEZE
plant and equipment HMERSZEEE ZRE 21 1,882,893 160,260
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARAREE
through other comprehensive income FFAHREZEKREZ
RAKE 18 1,306,520 8,990,647
Total non-current assets ERHEEHE 339,304,518 276,273,930
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories z5 19 48,374,124 48,776,986
Trade and bills receivables FEURBR X R FE I ZE 45 20 91,365,463 78,289,710
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FE{JFRIE
EEREERKR 21 14,053,622 8,836,915
Prepaid land lease payments BT ERE 15(a) - 863,203
Structured deposits EEMETER 22 3,904,728 57,954,216
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBES%EIEE 23 302,018,369 384,908,930
459,716,306 579,629,960
Assets of a disposal group classified DEARFEREZ
as held for sale HEER > EE 11 134,101,692 140,864,684
Total current assets MENEE&AE 593,817,998 720,494,644
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENER
Trade payables FE (T BR =X 24 28,797,036 31,801,584
Other payables and accruals HERBNRKRESER 25 90,710,463 108,856,655
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEIRITER 26 607,735 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(c) 4,331,556 -
Due to a fellow subsidiary FET—RRAMBATRIE  33() 589,478 690,501
Due to a non-controlling shareholder FEf— B IEER IR RIE - 14,505,712
Tax payable FEF#R1E 6,369,883 7,757,339
131,406,151 163,611,791
Liabilities directly associated with the assets B2 EAFEHEZ
classified as held for sale EEEEEHZERE 11 13,592,266 14,551,017
Total current liabilities mEaEELE 144,998,417 178,162,808
NET CURRENT ASSETS TENE EIRE 448,819,581 542,331,836
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERREBAER
LIABILITIES 788,124,099 818,605,766
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ErETEIRR

At 31 March 2020 ¢ 20204 35 31H

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
B =E B BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEIRITER 26 19,609,029 -
Lease liabilities HE&RE 15(c) 685,188 -
Deferred income HRIE YA 388,878 531,247
Deferred tax liabilities RIEIRIBEAE 27 7,678,216 7,108,589
Total non-current liabilities ERHEELEEE 28,361,311 7,639,836
NET ASSETS EERE 759,762,788 810,965,930
EQUITY Wz
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAGIGRELER
Share capital it 28 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves #E 29 507,772,367 562,198,397
722,776,555 777,202,585
Non-controlling interests JEEER ¥R 36,986,233 33,763,345
TOTAL EQUITY S 4EEE 759,762,788 810,965,930
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
FXHE axX4%t
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year enaed 31 March 2020 B E 20204 3/5 31 H IF EE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRREL
Capital Capital Far - Exchange Non-
Share Share  redemption  conribution Special ~ Statutory vaue  fluctuation ~ Refained controlling Total
captal -~ premium TSeIVe TSeIVe TeSeIve Teserves Teserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
- - f ER
ks RWEE REHE GREE GUEE IERE  BERE  RBME  GREEM BE HERER  gaKE
(ole28)  (note2d)  (roted)
(ham) (W) (W)
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
#n En #n A A An An #n #n #n En #n
A Aprl 2018 ROEAR 5047588 355,815,668 U000 B980T 346006 AT BT 202000 GES6T6  G4T66A36  STABBT 88550008
Pt for e REEHH - - - - - - - SO MBI %
Othr comprehensie lss for e yeor. ~~ REERT2ERE:
Changes infa value on eqiy EEARAABEA
iovestments desinate a i vale He2EhaEz
though oter comprehensie ncome RaiEz
AEEES - - - - (678845 - - (bR - (bR
Exchange dferences on ransionof - 3B HRAEE
fnancil statements LERES - - - - - 6T - (RETNE) 1) (9540
Tolalcompreiensie loss for the year FEEREFRAE - - - - - (BTeBAD  GOETXE)  26TD (2004619 0SRBENT  (R221004)
Aopropriaonfo esenve EEEE - - - - Wy - - ) - - -
Utisaton of rserie FREE - - - - (64810) - - 64810 - - -
Repurchases ofshares BERR (340 (696%) - - - - - - () - ()
Tranfer toreserie SHTRE X O Y - - - - - - -
Frl 01 s dedred EETIERERS - - - - - - PEM) (5 -5
Diddends decred oanonconoling ~~ EREERRESHZRE
shareholder - - - - - - - - (1AFTA (1674013)
NSt Wach 29 1) FOIESBHRR
WMYE4RIA 15004188 365,700578° GT4O0° BO0S0T 340016 07RS0M  (D6ATS)  (MGBL3097 205078 TIa02A%5  33TEIMS 610965990
Pt for e KEEHH - - - - - - - S0 SRE S N
Othr comprehensie lss for theyeor. ~~ AEERT2ERE:
Changes infa value on eqiy EEARLABEA
investments desinated at i vale He2EhEz
through oher comprehensive ncome BxkEL
AEEES - - - - (e - - ) - ()
Exchange dfeences on ransionof A EBHEHRAEY
financil tatements CERER - - - - - (508 - ([T98) (A58 (A9%41TE)
Tidunpehesie ss ey AEE2EEENE - - - - O MEE) SN LN SIS (8RN
Utsation o reserve FREE - - - - (3845 - - 345 - - -
Firl 201 s dedred ESTERERS - - - - - - AT - LM
At31 March 2020 RunEBYE 15004188 355,700,578 G400 GOOS0T 34006 0TS (10MMSE0L  (LITLMG)T 2013423 TATIESSS 36986283  TOT6LTEG

RAAREARAE

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$507,772,367 (2019: HK$562,198,397) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

* HEHEROSEEHBRARAANGEEH
507,772,367 7T (20194F : 562,198,397:87T) ©




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

Annual Report 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
M 3 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RE;ZFFrFRERE
Profit before tax R A A 15,927,758 26,167,097
Adjustments for: TR EEHZHE
Finance costs BN 7 373,944 -
Interest income FEWA 5 (5,292,467) (6,465,231)
Loss on disposal/write off of property, plant HE MHEME  BE
and equipment REBZ S 5 72,295 252,388
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of financial ~ £FREEZHE
assets, net (BEOREE) » 358 6 138,016 (11,830)
Fair value (gains)/losses, net: RAMEE () 518 - P58
Derivative instruments — transactions TEIE-FFE
not qualifying as hedges HABERZRS 5 - 4,555,476
Structured deposits EELER 5 (3,444,666) (6,569,715)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRREBINE 6 9,030,568 11,467,349
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments BRENM T MBERIE 6 - 3,420,690
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁﬁﬁ HEEINE 6 6,047,220 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets CETEE#H 6 4,442,168 4,698,901
Recognition of government grants Eﬁwﬂlﬁ fHBh (112,200) (116,779)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 5 2,881,666 -
30,064,302 37,398,346
Increase in inventories ZFEEM (2,936,697) (13,660,700)
Increase in trade and bills receivables P s B R R FE M ZE 4R (19,618,978) (7,984,449)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BOMIE - RERK
other receivables HE WG (6,439,942) (1,484,723)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FE(TBRFY GRIZL) /40 (1,032,111) 14,824,126
(Decrease)fincrease in other payables and accruals ~ HE FE IR EtER
mD) /3 (12,264,574) 6,484,950
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due to a F”Eﬁ GIEEN = YNGIE/ S
fellow subsidiary mL) 1N (58,967) 297,446
Proceeds from maturity of derivative instruments bIII,E?'J HAFR1SRIE = 169,427,625
Investments in derivative instruments RERTTETH = (173,775,675)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & (FRA) /FisRE (12,286,967) 31,526,946
PRC taxes paid ERRERE (7,241,304) (12,357,506
Interest paid BEFE (373,944) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities ~ 48 & &8 (FTF) /Fi13
REHEBE (19,902,305) 19,169,440
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBERER

Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
fd s AT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHFRSRERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EHEATE - (2,023,068)
Interest received BB 5,292,467 6,465,231
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME -BEK
plant and equipment REBIEEZPERIE 2,608 165,452
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERZRE (93,938,854) (33,644,712)
Additions to other intangible assets REHECETEE (8,407,138) -
Proceeds from structured deposits REEBEERZREHIE 608,691,999 866,995,724
Investments in structured deposits REBUEERZRE (552,705,958) (918,815,396
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZBFAZRERETEHE (41,064,876) (80,856,769)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ RiE EEIFRSRERE
Dividends paid BERRE (2,134,823) (6,792,672)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder ~ BE{JIEZERKRERZBRE (14,505,712) -
New bank loans HERITEM 20,901,531 -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (5,073,113) -
Repurchases of shares EAEIEh) - (113,090)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEZBMAZRERETFE (812,117) (6,905,762)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRREFERBAVFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (61,779,298) (68,593,091)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ MREHIZRERIREEEEE 393,168,421 493,153,768
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEEREE 2 E (F58) (19,426,463) (31,392,256)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELKZBERREFEERE
AT END OF YEAR 311,962,660 393,168,421
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERFEFERBGRZON
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in REBERRARIEZ
the statement of financial position HeRHFEEHEER 23 302,018,369 384,908,930
Cash and short term deposits attributable to HEMANBEZRER
a disposal group THATEN 11 9,944,291 8,259,491
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RIRERERIEZ
the statement of cash flows RekBFEEEER 311,962,660 393,168,421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law (2010 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-111,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) were involved in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
traditional Chinese medicine decoction pieces and healthcare
products, sale of Chinese herbal medicines, and the provision of
Chinese medical services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong.

REREEER

AREEFRAT (‘RAF) R
EHEBEATE (201058 :ThR) i
HEeEHEFMRIAEREETZE
HEAT HRONREBHEXZFR
BRRAS (B LH o ARATZ
% 3% =5 B2 {11 5 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

R FXRBKREMBAR (A
EE)RFBE - EYRE - RER
FRFAEEMZAE - EEKRHE >
FREEAT RV E U R IR (R B ARTS o

EFRR > FABDNEERERA
BIRRBERABARKEERBRA
8 (REBEMAILRIMABRAE) ©

Information about subsidiaries ERMBARZEM
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBETEMBABTZEN
follows: T
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BET
s, LiEh TAF L
B SR AR s B HMES EZESM TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef i
Yunnan Meng Sheng People’s RMB36,000,000 - 55 Research and
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.” Republicof A 136,000,0007T development,
EHELELERATY China manufacture and
(“PRC")/ sale of
Mainland pharmaceutical and
China hiotechnology
hEAREM products
(‘hET) /HhEIARE BEREMBRER
AT
TERBE
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

1.

76 EEEEEEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBEH @
ERAMBATIZER (@)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&17
ML, LiEk/ AT
BiE SR R B HAMES Ezaatt TEXRH
Direct Indirect
Ef f
Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical British Virgin US$1 100 - Investment
Co., Limited Islands (“BVI")/ (ES holding
Mainland REER
China
HRETAREE
/B RE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ RMB93,000,000 - 100 Research and
(Zhuhai) Limited** Mainland A E5%93,000,0007T development,
RREE (5 BRAR China manufacture and
HE HE AR sale of

pharmaceutical and

biotechnology

products

BERLYRKREM

PATETRN L

LERHEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Australia AUD1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale
(Australia) Pty Limited* BAFE 1,000,000 7T and distribution of
RAEE (BRAMTE) BRAT healthcare products
REERZITH

HERDH

Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ HK$50,000,000 - 100 Research and
(China) Limited** Mainland 50,000,000 7t development of
RABZE (FE) BRAFT™ China pharmaceutical
FE PEARE products and

provision of intra-

group consultation

service and marketing,

sale and distribution

of healthcare products

BEEMZMRAR

HE - RUEEBARE

AR M R AR 2

EmZ {7

HERDH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFRKREEEH @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARZER (@&
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&17
ML, Lidk, AT
B8 1 B AR s B HAMES EZEoM TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef f
Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited** PRC/ RMB67,000,000 - 100 Property holding
KBXRAEXBRAF" Mainland A E&%67,000,0007T MR
China
B, B A RE
Tianda Chinese Medicine PRC/ RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Sale of
(China) Ltd.** Mainland A & #30,000,0007T,/ Chinese herbal
RAHPEBRE (FE) BRAF China RMB50,000,000 medicines,

HEHEAE  AERKS50,000,0007T

Zhuhai Tianda Processed PRC/ RMB6,500,000/
Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd.** Mainland A EE#56,500,00075,/
KEXAPEHRRERAT" China RMB10,000,000

HE/FEAE  AR10,0000007T

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law
# Incorporated as a cooperative enterprise

A limited liability company established under the PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

traditional Chinese
medicine decoction
pieces and
pharmaceutical
HREEH
HREHR RBE
HiHE

- 100 Production and
sale of traditional

Chinese medicine

decoction pieces and

trading of agricultural

by-products

PEFREER

HEUK

REIEMNEE

* WIFHEBLRKE M BB LK
ERPRECHRERREZ

o REBEPEEEEAMZIIEBEERE
# EMRIIASERE
REBEFEERBINBRAR

ERIHEERANEFELRE
EXRATEXENENETEREE
FEETEHNONERTWBLFE - &

RAREEMBARZERMTIHE
TRIBBRIAR
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

2.1

78 EEEEEEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(‘HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
certain bills receivables and structured deposits which have been
measured at fair value. The disposal group held for sale is stated
at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

21

ZEMBHRERDRBEE B G
RERMHZERBMBREER (B
EMERMBRSER - FEGHE
AR REBAREHENRE
BATFBINRBERERRK - 2T
BHRREXBELMAE RN > EEE
ABEARBEFARCEZENREZR
TRE - ETRREBEREBEER
BRAREESNE -FFHEZHER
MREREEZQAABEREENRE
ZBARE TR (U0 B 5 3R R M 5E2.4F
E—THA) - AFMBREJ]UET
(BIT) 25 °

IZEEE

REMBERROELQTREK
BATEHE2020FE3831BIEFEEZ B
BHRK -MWBRABEASATIEREIM
BEHZER (BREEEEER) - 8
AEBHSHERERREFNZHMO
RAEREXEZERIUKRES A
REHRZED BIEAEBER TR
BRENDUTEXREHRABRESH ZEE
EFiER) R EZEORE - BNESES
E o
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

21

RBEE )

SeEEW

HAEABEZSEEER DR
REHERKRZHIRFELER E
o A REERTEERSHEAHRKR
BENRZENHEEE—EREE
RIABR > BiE

(a) EREHRHEKREFBAZEG
WzHE;

) HEBNZHMEEZEN &
() TEBZRERKREBEERE#-

B AR B RERDIREER
BIAERER R SR R — R EER
MR - WBABRZEEBELER
DR EHEEAEREAR  EEZ
TRIERIERLESLE -

BmkHEZ2E WD 2 ZHEMER
TEBRAERZATRRKEIFER
e > BNEIE SR 5| BRI IR a A AR
HIFEA - FIEAEERABEZE
EREE - #w WA~ A2 UK
FEERERRZHEARZERMZERES
MEENGESIRERTHEHE -

HEBRBELERLXHEAR
B BERFT M =GR E P —18
NEZRNREE > AEBGEHTE
LB B INAERIREHR o WK B
AENEA D S E I R KT
o R EmH AR e

WAEEAEH—BHEBEATZ
ZEHIE > B4R IERR()ZB AT Z
BE (B1EH28) R&aE; (i)ErIEE
IR ZIRMEE ; KRN0 8
ZERFERERE  THEIAEKRE
ZAREE; (FIfREEAKREZA
AEE; RiiEZAREAELEEZ
BEENEL - AR EE2ERER

R EEERGESH M RREAER
BERHEEHMEENGEFRREZE
REESHOEZEAERFZEF (A0
BA) o
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19, HKAS
28 and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle,
which are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs are described below:

(a) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet
model to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except for certain recognition exemptions.
Lessor accounting is not relevant to the Group as there are
no lease arrangements where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the standard has
been applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits at 1 April 2019, and
the comparative information for 31 March 2019 was not
restated and continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and
related interpretations.

B BERERINESE

7 & B A G 2 2 A S IR AR B RARAA
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial ~ MU T REIETEBMFEREER] o

ERMBREER  AEREHEREZ
S92 EE] BITHE
ERMBREEN HE
268 e
EREHER FRIEST AR E
F195% 2 85T ‘ ‘
ERGHEN KBERBREELE
F205% 2 85T ZRBEE
&8 ERMERE AREREELZ
2EZ88) THREMY
— BN )
WIEEN7FEHZ BBRBHRERE
FEXE 35 « B
EEEZIEAL
EA R
BORREBG
EREASR2IER]

ERMBIMEER TS - FA

B ER B RE A YR 5E28
B8 2 85T 2 LU 20154 Z20174F 15 BF
ZEBHBEIREERFEZLE (A
RRAEBMBRRER) 5 0 TR
KIETEBMHFRELEN ZHEERY
HRWumT

(@)

EBMBRESERFI6IREA
ERGHENRITRBEE BB
(EREMBREEEEEE) —
RRFSREC XS EEH
E-EB8 (EH2RBEEE) —5
BEISREEHE—BIERESR
(B2 BEEE) —REBHEUR
FIEHEREEEZRFFEAR S Z
HEARE o ZEAHTIHES « 51
EERKRBEEZRA > I
ERFEBAMFAEHERE—EB
EBEREINAR » U Kt
ECREEERBERR (BT
FESDEA RPRIM) o AN AEREIL
EAHBEANBERSE > It
EAGFRAEFEILIFERE

AEEBRMSETEN S ER
ME B RS ZER F165E (R
2019F4B1HERER) - BB
A% BEMERENmEE
RIREN 7 Bt 7 EMER A $2019
FLEVBREBFF VSRR R
> 20193831 A Z LERE K
WEES BEERES BTt
BB R ABRARR B2 3R ©
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(@)

(continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial
application. Contracts that were not identified as leases
under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has
been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on
or after 1 April 2019.

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating
leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
property. As a lessee, the Group previously classified
leases as either finance leases or operating leases based
on the assessment of whether the lease transferred
substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies
a single approach to recognise and measure right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except for one
elective exemption for leases of leases with a lease term of
12 months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of
underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the
right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding
lease liabilities (as finance costs).

2.2

B BERRNEEE @

(a)

(%)

HEZHES®
RIFEBMBHRESERIF165% -
HENRBBRAENRTE—
RIBANERNEEZERE
Hl# > AZaNAEERE S
B - MERARKERAHME
ERERERSIEENTRE
BXTEEHMAEEZMER AR
TEREGE - AERIEEMER
BERITHRERE  EEBERE
B ERERER G TR
FTERER ARMBRER
BLZET) —RRE4H A8
BEZEHRAZEL - RIEBEEE
G ERBITRRESR (BERM
BREZREEST) —R2BH4R
REHFBEAEZSNILRT U
EMETE o AL > EBMBRSE
HERF6RZHEERERAR
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RN E BRI IR EZERF 16952
FEMEE
rEBEEZEMEZEES
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(a) (continued)
As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating
leases (continued)
Impact on transition
Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April
2019. The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount
of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before 1
April 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present
the right-of-use assets separately in the statement of
financial position. This includes the lease assets recognised
previously under operating leases of HK$39,111,666 that
were reclassified from prepaid land lease payments.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

. Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases
with a lease term that ends within 12 months from the
date of initial application
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 E:tHERINEZEE @

(continued)
(a) (continued) (a) (&)
Financial impact at 1 April 2019 H20195F4B1H Z I F e &
The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 12019548 1H RIR A E B B 75
1 April 2019 was as follows: REZERFI6SEMELE Z 2 EW
T
Increase/
(decrease)
s Gr)
HK$
BT
Assets B'BE
Increase in right-of-use assets fERREE EEM 48,063,196
Decrease in prepaid land lease payments AT LA B IER D (39,111,666)
Increase in total assets BEAREEM 8,951,530
Liabilities =R
Increase in lease liabilities HEaFEEMD 8,951,530
Increase in total liabilities =REEECh 8,951,530
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the R2019F4B1HZHEAGER
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 are as 20194F3B31H Z RS ERIEY
follows: RO ¢
HK$
BT
Operating lease commitments #2019FE383M A 2 B EHERIE
as at 31 March 2019 9,634,086
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases & : A4S HATH & R FIsRTE
and those leases with a remaining lease BEHATE20205F3831H:®
term ended on or before 31 March 2020 Z Bl & w2 Tl EAE B A (302,521)
9,331,565
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate 7201954 B 18 Z n#EF19
as at 1 April 2019 WEEEMNE 4.35%
Discounted operating lease commitments 20194 B1HB
as at 1 April 2019 AR RS E AR 8,951,530
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R2019F4B 1R ZHE&E 8,951,530
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(b) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about
the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses,
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation,
the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax
positions and determined that the interpretation did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 BHEGEEKRENZETERBER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS S
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBMIU KRN ZEFSHMBHRR
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective in these IR TEBEHRERRER ZHE]
financial statements. KRBT EBMBREER o
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Busingss’ ERNHREE] 5 v
ERyivA ]
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’ EAMBRSEN FIFEENE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 FO%% ~ EEG D
BORRBBUERS
ERIETR21E3]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an ERUBRTENE0S REZLEFE T
HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ REBGHENENSE BSELLZEZ
Q011F) 2 &3] BEHETIE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concession’ ERNBRERNSI6R 290K BERER
2151 HEEE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® ERAMBRSENETR FRAY
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material EABHENS TR ZH7EE
BEGHERFR
bd:H]
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 f 7202051 B 1B 3 2 & BRI & S HARS
X
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 2 72202056 B 1H 3 2 B BRI EE AR
£
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 3 20211 B 1B 2 B R FEE AR
X
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 4 b 4% 7 7 58 i1 4 3% B HR B B R4
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected FEHRE AN A EE 2 FEMER
to be applicable to the Group is described below: FEAUZE—TER BB T o
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events
that occur on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
the effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2020. Early application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 allow lessee to elect not
to assess whether a rent concession occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic is a lease modification.
Such practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and only if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the change
in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less than the consideration
for the lease immediately preceding the change; (i) any reduction
in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to
other terms and conditions of the lease. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April
2020. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain bills receivables, structured
deposits and equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

90 ESEEEEEE

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3~ based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family

(i)

(if)

(iii

or

and that person

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applie

(i)

S:

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(vij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 33.3% or over the lease terms,
whichever rate is higher

Plant and machinery 5% to 10%

Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and
fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assels

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Leasehold land
Clinic, office and warehouse

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term lease are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FEEHBEHME @
(continued)
Investments and other financial assets KERHEEREE
Initial recognition and measurement BEXEEARE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (‘EIR”) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
revenue in the profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes bills receivables, derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHEHE @
(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued) RIBIATHMEE @
R AN ESREENSE

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) EREEZRE®)

General approach (continued) — R % ()

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to BB A2 SREE &
impairment under the general approach and they are classified — MR AETRIES A RE > LB
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for THRAGEAEZEWRERS (LU T
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed ) 9b > EEUTEE D ERANRTERE
below. BEEstE -

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not B—fEER—- EZMIBBVHEES
increased significantly since initial recognition and for UREERMKAREE
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount N BEEIEEE
equal to 12-month ECLs MHERI12EAFERE

I={5F;

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has BIMER—- EMIEBVERER
increased significantly since initial recognition but BERMEEIE
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for m>BXIFEERE
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount EREERBHBGER
equal to lifetime ECLs HEHEERZIATERE

I={5F

Stage 3- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the F=ME—- RNIRSHHBEERE
reporting date (but that are not purchased or ZEMEE (BEREE
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss BRRBEERE)
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime HERBEHEHESER2
ECLs HATEHRE EE1E

Simplified approach B1Erm %

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant HNAEESEAREMRD ZEI
financing component or when the Group applies the practical R AEBRXAANTEEAR
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing FAEMEBAMERD Z 2 EHER
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in REBFKABICH EZETHIREEES
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does B s BIEMEFE  NEBRFE
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss BHRESERMZEE MENERE
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The HERET R EATERA (= Ef1am I EiE
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on BE AEECHRBHEEREEHE
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking RETHEBE 2 EERR  LREE
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. BARKEIRIE 2RISR ZELHE

o
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14 ESEEEEERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Financial liabilities ERBE
Initial recognition and measurement BEXEZRE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FEEHBEHME @
(continued)
Derivative financial instruments fTEesmIT A
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement BAEARAENE

The Group has derivative financial instruments, such as
foreign currency contracts, to hedge its foreign currency price
risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

100 IESEEEEERE

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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108 I ESEEEEEDE

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(@) Sale of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
proaucts
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical, biotechnology
and healthcare products is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
products.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

24 FEFHHEHRE @

g A FER (@)
EEESHMA 8)
(b) FEHRPERE

(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services
Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services IR P B AR TS BV UK A 2 B BRF ] 7
-

is recognised over time, using an input method to measure 7 BRERABAZUGEERTER
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because BITRHBENEE > FEAZTFERRK
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits I HFERERIEHRFNGE o
from services provided by the Group.

Customer membership program EFEE:HE

The Group operates a customer membership program FEBRIZFAEEFHE > @F
which extra credits are granted to the customers on deposits MABERNERIZTRINGES - #
money to the membership card that entitle them to use on future BREHBREPBLOERBREEPE
consultation of Chinese medical services and purchases of R - 2 ERRIMED M ESHAR -
Chinese medicines. No expiry dates were attached to the extra ALt > mERREEHZEEMNNSER
credits. The obligation to provide the right to the customer is REIIEAEE-
therefore a separate performance obligation.

R ERIZEEBIINHEEREE
R P BRS REIMED ZEIEL

The transaction price is allocated between the provision
of Chinese medical services and extra credits on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of P - BIEBEIMES B ILIHEET
each extra credit is estimated based on the right to be given when RIFE T RIRERINE D R4 T B
the extra credits are redeemed by the customer. FIEIThET o

REHER SRR E S 5518
BEBRTEENERSOERE -§
Bl ERE R REINED

A contract liability is recognised for the unexercised rights
relating to the membership program at the time of the initial
sales transaction. Revenue from the membership program is
recognised when the extra credits are redeemed by the customer. R IUFESY - TREAF ST RN
Revenue for extra credits that are not expected to be redeemed is SR ZWEHIRIBEE R BITEEF
recognised in the proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by B Z EEBIFERR o
the customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency, Renminbi
(“RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HKS$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the HKS$. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2020 was
HK$95,014,628 (2019: HK$104,827,352). Further details are
given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets other than goodwill
are given in notes 14, 15 and 17 to the financial statements.
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types of goods delivered or services
provided, being the pharmaceutical and biotechnology business
and Chinese medical business. The CODM monitors the results
of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. In addition, the CODM monitors the Group’s assets
and liabilities as a whole, and accordingly, no segment assets and
liabilities are presented.

During the year 2019, the financial results of Chinese
medical business were aggregated with the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology business in the financial statements. Comparative
figures of the segment information have been reclassified to
conform with the current period’s presentation.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are
excluded from such measurement.
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4. RESEBEHE @

2020
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
business business Total
BREMER hEE ¥ “wst
HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT
Segment revenue: DEUA -
Sales to external customers mINEE FIHE 443,604,287 47,870,812 491,475,099
Intersegment sales DEREHE 565,553 10,983 576,536
444,169,840 47,881,795 492,051,635
Reconciliation: HER .
Elimination of intersegment sales KD EEHE (576,536)
Revenue WA 491,475,099
Segment results DEEE 53,399,686 (22,072,422) 31,327,264
Reconciliation: HER
Other income, gains and losses HeEWA -~ K&
K E518 3,841,658
Corporate and other unallocated TtEREERDE
expenses (553 (19,241,164)
Profit before tax PRI AT T 15,927,758
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
business business  Unallocated Total
BREMESE $HBEH Ko E Het
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Other segment information: HEXIMEE :
Interest income FE WA 1,817,992 33,888 3,440,587 5,292,467
Impairment of goodwill BERE - 2,881,666 - 2,881,666
Depreciation and amortisation ~ $T &5 S 1 85 11,946,300 2,285,837 5,287,819 19,519,956
Finance costs R E A4S 62,812 24,860 286,272 373,944
Capital expenditure* BEARZ 98,827,401 3,518,591 - 102,345,992

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and

equipment and other intangible assets.

* BEXAHZEEYE BERREUK

HERWEEZRE -
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4. REFEBEH @

2019
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
business business Total
BEAYER FREE 2T “Et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Segment revenue: FEUA -
Sales to external customers mNE R P E 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819
Intersegment sales DEEHE - 518,795 518,795
506,948,189 20,573,425 527,521,614
Reconciliation: HER
Elimination of intersegment sales i o EPRE I & (518,795)
Revenue WA 527,002,819
Segment results DEEE 47,483,906 (11,134,132 36,349,774
Reconciliation: AR
Other income, gains and losses HEeEWA -~ K&
K518 5,664,805
Corporate and other unallocated TtEREERSE
expenses (553 (15,847,482)
Profit before tax PR AR Al & A 26,167,097
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
business business Unallocated Total
BEAYER RE T KDL “st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Other segment information: HEDIEE :
Interest income FEWA 2,062,443 38,654 4,364,134 6,465,231
Depreciation and amortisation 37 &5 Kz 1% §8 17,793,385 1,480,181 313,374 19,586,940
Capital expenditure* BAES 31,442,955 4,718,256 22075 36,183,286

*

acquisition of a subsidiary.

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets including assets from the

*

BEEARXBENE  BERRBEUR
HEBREEZRAE  SERE—H

MBABIFRSEE °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

4,

REJEBEFE @
i &

(a) KEIFREFZHA

Annual Report 2020

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

B BT

Mainland China A B A B 489,405,438 525,088,733
Hong Kong 58 1,404,880 1,020,944
Australia by 664,781 893,142
491,475,099 527,002,819

The revenue information of operations above is based on
the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

U EEEZIMABHUERFE

AR

b) FHABEE

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mainland China Hh ] o e 331,241,575 265,698,418
Hong Kong 58 6,742,192 1,567,639
Australia TR K T 14,231 17,226
337,997,998 267,283,283

The non-current asset information of operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
revenue from any single customer accounted for 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.

U EEEBZIFRBEEEHUE
EFffEtAEE > BAEEE/MTIA -

EREEERZEN

B E20205F KR2019FE383M1H LEF
B EREEAN—BFRBBRAL

EB U A10%E A £ o
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 5 WA-HEWA - WmkEHE
Information about major customers ERFTEERZER
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRAWAZAZRUWT :
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from contracts with customers EBEEHBA
Sale of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and HEBE - YRR
healthcare products: REEEMR
— Cerebroprotein hydrolysate injection — S REE B KEY 139,955,328 268,520,338
- Tuoping (Valsartan capsules) — ¥ (iR E ) 116,116,543 69,206,399
— Tuoen (Ibuprofen suspension and drops) R (HEBESRE
A Hl) 86,171,503 65,386,623
— Chinese medical products —HEBEMR 47,417,084 20,054,630
— Other products —HEEMm 101,360,913 103,834,829
Provision of Chinese medical services P ERT 453,728 -
491,475,099 527,002,819
Revenue from contracts with customers ZERE8WA
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (i) AERI/KZKMAEH
For the year ended 31 March 2020 B E20205F3831HILFEE
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
Segments 8B business business Total
BEEMER hEE R et
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
Types of goods or services B RFBERN
Sale of products HEEM 443,604,287 47,417,084 491,021,371
Chinese medical services hEARFS - 453,728 453,728
Total revenue from contracts BEREHWALLRE
with customers 443,604,287 47,870,812 491,475,099
Geographical markets i v 18
Mainland China A ] oK B 441,664,177 47,741,261 489,405,438
Hong Kong &5 1,275,329 129,551 1,404,880
Australia B AR F ZE 664,781 - 664,781
Total revenue from contracts with P2 S&IUK A 4228
customers 443,604,287 47,870,812 491,475,099
Timing of revenue recognition WX A TR~ BFRI 14
Goods transferred at RERHMER
a point in time 5% 443,604,287 47,417,084 491,021,371
Services rendered over time ® —ExB#F"ikﬁi\Z
PR %5 - 453,728 453,728
Total revenue from contracts with A SHIURALEEE
customers 443,604,287 47,870,812 491,475,099
RAEXFRAT
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES (continued) 5. IGA~HEWA - = KREE @)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EBESHBA @
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) HBRHEZKAEH &)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE2019FI/MBALIEFE
Pharmaceutical
and Chinese
biotechnology medical
Segments D EB business business Total
BB YT FREEXFE et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Types of goods or services SEmEkRFEERN
Sale of products HEEM 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819
Total revenue from contracts BEEEHWALRE
with customers 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819
Geographical markets hiz v 15
Mainland China A B A B 505,034,103 20,054,630 525,088,733
Hong Kong &8 1,020,944 - 1,020,944
Australia B KK EE 893,142 - 893,142
Total revenue from contracts BEREHRALLLE
with customers 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819

Timing of revenue recognition WX AFESR 2 BRI

Goods transferred at a point AREFEER
in time 5 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819
Total revenue from contracts BEREHRALLLE
with customers 506,948,189 20,054,630 527,002,819
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRETHARSHEREIME
recognised in the current reporting period that were included in STARSHTZENEEMERTEZ
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: WAEERE -
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
#T BT
Revenue recognised that was included ~ B3t ARSHIFN =2
in contract liabilities at the beginning BHEBEZ
of the reporting period: BREREA
Sale of products HEEM 12,824,486 17,815,075
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES (continued) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and healthcare
products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
products and payment is generally due within 60 to 180
days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required.

Provision of Chinese medical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
customer acceptance.

An analysis of other income, gains and losses is as

A ~HEEWA «- INEmREE @

ERAHWA @)

(i) BAIEE
EREAEERNE T2 E R
mr

HEBE  LYRIRRIREE D

BHBERXNHEE £
MBI R R EMBFER ° B
— MR P32 Y B HHE 5160 180K
REIHR > MR A —ARZATARR
Ig o

FEHPEIRE

BHBEEREHRERE
RrIER > RIE—MRISE P 1R
Rz (g ©

EMEEWA - BmKRE

follows: BZoWMWT :
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other income HEeWA
Bank interest income RITHE WA 5,292,467 6,465,231
Government subsidies* BT & BY 356,761 3,406,910
Others He 328,539 728,680
5,977,767 10,600,821
Gains and losses Wiz K B518
Fair value gains/(losses), net: NAEERE S (F518) P48
Derivative instruments — transactions 1&ETE -
not qualifying as hedges FREHHAERZR S - (4,555,476)
Structured deposits EEETER 3,444,666 6,569,715
Foreign exchange gains, net FERUWmFRE 362,352 4,571,995
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE EEYE
plant and equipment B R tE 2 B8 (72,295) (252,388)
Impairment of goodwill EE R E (2,881,666) -
6,830,824 16,934,667

*

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants.

* WEARILEMEZ W RER
HREHHAEEE-
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

6. PRIRATEF

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Annual Report 2020

AEBZFRAER NG

(crediting): (B&tA) :
2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
M sk B BT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEZHEK 130,461,240 102,923,092
Depreciation of property, plant ME - -BEKRREIRTE
and equipment 14 9,030,568 11,467,349
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {F A E ETE (20194 :
(2019: Amortisation of prepaid FA{T L AR ERRIEE )
land lease payments) 15 6,047,220 3,420,690
Amortisation of other intangible HemLEE#H
assets 17 4,442,168 4,698,901
Research and development costs  Fff 25 a2 1,503,925 6,915,847
Impairment of goodwill BERE 2,881,666 -
Minimum lease payments under KEHEZRBHEENR
operating leases 16 - 7,427,766
Lease payments not included inthe WA BIFEEHREAGEFEZ
measurement of lease liabilities iEN=RNEN 15 1,094,876 -
Auditors’ remuneration ZELETEN = 1,500,000 2,072,716
Employee benefit expenses BERAMAX (B
(including directors’ and EERIETHAE
chief executive’s remuneration B (PMd5E8)) :
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries T B R s 54,850,419 48,998,654
Pension scheme contributions RIRESTEIHER 5,225,226 5,089,029
60,075,645 54,087,683
Foreign exchange differences, net [FE5R = 2P EE (362,352) (4,571,995)
Impairment of financial assets, net: &RIE EREFEE
Impairment/(reversal of FEU AR TR R FE U Z 38R 1B
impairment) of trade and bills (BEIRE) > B8
receivables, net 20 163,318 (3,566)
Reversal of impairment of BEIFT AT RRIE
financial assets included in BEREERKRZ
prepayments, deposits and EREEREFEE
other receivables, net 21 (25,302) (8,264)
138,016 (11,830)
Fair value (gains)/losses, net: NAEE WE) BE
VRER -
Derivative instruments — TETR-FFTE
transactions not qualifying HAYERZRS
as hedges - 4,555,476
Structured deposits EEEER (3,444,666) (6,569,715)
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WMERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RAE R A Z DI
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank loans RITEFZHE 241,216 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZME 311,132 -
Total interest expense on financial TIEBEAREBEGTAERZ
liabilities not at fair value through ETHEaEZIEHZREE
or profit loss 552,348 -
Less: Interest capitalised B BEXREZFER (178,404) -
373,944 -

8.  CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. FETHAERESMSE

Chief executive’s and directors’ remuneration for the year, Rig EHRA -~ FEASTMERGIE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) 383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c)Re(NME X K A & (3%
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BESMNEEN) ROIE2EIKEARFE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) EZFETHAEBREEMEUWT :

Regulation, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$ HK$
HIT BT
Fees Fiok 492,000 492,000
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BWIUIFMITESR
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRENFRIFENITESEZH
during the year were as follows: EWMTF
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Mr. Lam Yat Fai mHEERE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERERE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa M ERE 72,000 72,000
216,000 216,000
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRILEENFHEIIIERNTES
independent non-executive directors during the year (2019: > BEEE (20194 © &) o
Nil).

(WP *AEELERAR
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8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FETHAESREZEEME @

(continued)
(b) The chief executive, executive director and non- (b) FEFTHAS - ITEFERIEH
executive directors TES
Fees
ik
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Chief executive: FEITHAR:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FXERE 60,000 60,000
Executive director: HITEE .
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXENRE 72,000 72,000
Non-executive directors: JERMITES :
Mr. Shen Bo R E 72,000 72,000
Mr. Feng Quanming BERLE - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREEL 72,000 72,000
144,000 144,000
276,000 276,000
There was no arrangement under which a director FRIEREEFHFETH
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any AEREXREREEAMEZ
remuneration during the year. ZHE o
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HEEEHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year did not FRAEEREHNEEREIEE
include any executive director (2019: Nil), details of whose fAIMITES (20194 | |) > HE 5%
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the U EXXHIEE8 c E A B (20195 ¢
remuneration for the year of the five (2019: five) highest paid AR LERRBEETHFEITHA
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the BrzeeiMEEZMEFBUWT
Company are as follows:
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N RMREYA S 3,480,844 3,597,295
Performance related bonuses BERAEA 201,049 102,475
Pension scheme contributions BRREEHEIMER 79,500 81,024
3,761,393 3,780,794
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

IEmSHMES @

BBt AT BRI ML IFE S K
LIREFETHRABZERSHMESZ
ABIF

Number of employees

EEAY
2020 2019
Nil to HK$1,000,000 #£ 21,000,000 7T 5 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017 7T & 1,500,0007 75 - 1
5 5
INCOME TAX 10. FRigH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as HRAEBRETFERLEEE B
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong EEEAEZFEREN RIS ERS
Kong during the year (2019: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in BREREE (2019F  #) o fRAE
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable Mainland BB AR EmEEEEFTRAT
China corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate of 25% (2019: 25%), (REHELE) RRAKEE (KB BR
except for Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. NE(RAREE (BKE)) 5 RHE
(“Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical’) and Tianda Pharmaceuticals KEMBRRGH U ZRIE > Thiz
(Zhuhai) Ltd. (“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)’), which are REBAPEKERZEFRSHR (EEMR
the subsidiaries of the Group. Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical BR) Z25% (20194 : 25%) t& o
is established in the Kunming economic development zone. BERENBERAKEMEBEERI R
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Meng BB ZABRERRAR B
Sheng Pharmaceutical is engaged in Western China Development ZEPEFEIRE > AR EFEEZSR
and was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% (2019: 15%) BEMRE15% (20195 : 15%) o RAEE
during the year. Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is qualified as ¥ @B TEEHMRMEEERE &
an advanced technology enterprise and has obtained approvals SHEARBIEEIEIRBERE15Y%
from the relevant tax authorities for a preferential tax rate of 15% B AH=%F > EE202F12B%
for a period of 3 years up to December 2022. Taxes on profits - -HEMENERERREN ZREE
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax BAEBRKEMEREHEZERR
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. KEtB o
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
HIT BT
Current — Mainland China BDHA — AR A B
Charge for the year KEEZH 6,369,450 10,017,876
Underprovision in prior years UEEEHBERRE 1,337,517 217,675
Withholding tax FENR
Charge for the year KEEZH - 1,786,240
Overprovision in prior years UEEEBERE (1,611,205) -
Deferred tax (note 27) IEERIE (M 3E27) 1,031,790 (1,837,637)
Total tax charge for the year REEMRIBEL HAEEE 7,127,552 10,184,154

RAAREARAE



Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

10.

1.

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRIGIR @)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit UTARRAENZRESIH
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the (RABHE XD E AT EBERESE
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at BEZEEMREFE) BRERRE
the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates SAEZMETHZEHER  UWRERR
(i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as R EPEERE) BERMEZHIR !
follows:

2020 2019
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Profit before tax BRI AR 15,927,758 26,167,097
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREHEZRIE 3,981,939 25.0 6,541,774 25.0
Lower tax rate(s) enacted by local authority 3t 75 14 B8 4 ffs
ZBERE (2,944,993) (18.5) (5,252,473) (20.1)
Effect of withholding tax on the BASETEREAT
distributable profits of the Group’s A KEFE
PRC subsidiaries CENRZEE (1,505,429) (95 1592566 6.1
Income not subject to tax BARRZHA (1,015,695) (6.4) (2,950,169) (112)
Expenses not deductible for tax GIEE 3,095,725 19.4 2,306,625 8.8
Tax losses not recognised KR REBE 4,178,489 26.2 7,728,156 29.5
Adjustments in respect of current tax of ~ FLTEEIRIBR ENHA
previous period fEH AR 1,337,517 8.5 217,675 0.8
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate R AEBZ BMIRE
AEZREXE 7,127,552 4.7 10,184,154 38.9
ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 1. S HEARBFHEZHEMANZE

FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 22 February 2019, the Company announced the
decision of its board of directors to dispose of Zhuhai Tianda
Realty Limited (“Zhuhai Realty”). Zhuhai Realty engages
in property holding. The Group has decided to dispose of
the property because it will no longer have any operation in
Zhuhai Realty after the relocation of its existing research and
development (“R&D”) and production base to a new R&D and
production base in Jinwan District, Zhuhai, the PRC.

ERASEARKELEZEER
BEEMZzAaR

12019528228 » "RABIEM >
HEEGATHEKRBRAEEAR
AE (HBEX) KBEENREY
EER - FEEBREHENE
AHEHBAR I R REEMBEMR
R Bk £ 8 & BT B 38 R S E
B RBEERTBAEMNEE-
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

1.

1260 ESEEEEEPE

ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
signed the conditional disposal right agreement with Tianda
Group Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and being
the ultimate holding company of the Company. The triggering
conditions included (i) the Group’s new R&D and production base;
(ii) all approvals and permits from the government authorities
and consents from third parties, if any, were obtained; (iii) the
Group has removed its production lines from existing R&D and
production base. In the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, directors
determined that the sale was highly probable and Zhuhai Realty
was available for immediate sale. Based on the facts and
circumstances as at 31 March 2019, directors expected the new
R&D and production base to be completed by the end of 2019.
Consequently, Zhuhai Realty had been classified as a disposal
group held for sale and presented separately in consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019. Details were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22 February
2019 and circular dated 12 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, construction of the new R&D and
production base has not yet been completed due to delay in
construction and the outbreak of COVID 2019 pandemic since
December 2019. The directors had expected the completion
will be extended to the end of 2020. As at 31 March 2020, the
net assets value of Zhuhai Realty included in the consolidated
financial statements amounted to HK$120,509,426, of which
directors were confident that the recoverable amount of Zhuhai
Realty would not be less than the carrying amount of Zhuhai
Realty as at 31 March 2020.

11.

DEAFEHEZHEANZE
ERESEABEHEZESER
EERZzEaR®

201928228 » AT 2B M
BARRKEE (F8) BRARHEX
AEBERRAE (REBFMAILH
NE) » BRDBNRRIERAT) &
BRHEHE#GE BREGaE:
(SEBENFMEREBEEREN; ()E
ESBRAERNFBEIERFITUK
FZHMEER @A) ; (FEEEK
HEMERMUEEMBRBHEEER
EEEAERE T2019F3831HLEE
ENGEARBERRE  ESETHE
EIEABAAIAE > BiBBEE A M
HE - REBEMR019EIBMEANEER
1570 EETEHAR AN & R U E Mg
FR2019F [RRTSERY o AUt » BRiB B %
ENEAFERENHEHR > X
20193 BN AL HERRARPE
BEY - FBEENRAE LB HEEA2019
F2R22HMN AL R EHEEA20195F4H12
HEY@RPIE o

72202038318 » Y THAERR
LAB22019512 B LR 1§ 85201978 ik w5
TRE G > HhfEE R B BE B Y B 5% I
R EEZHEPTHFEEER
ZFE20204F & © 132020438318 » Tkl
BEMAFREUBRRNEEFES
120,509,426/ ;> Hp > EEFHFE D
BESEENUKRESEASTENRKE
BEMN2020FE3/3MHMREE ©
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

11. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 1. QA EHEZHEANZE
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH EREDEABEHEZEER
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued) EERZ&B®

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Zhuhai Realty 2020383 H D EARKELE

classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2020 are as follows:

ZHRBEEZTEREKRERERT

T
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
B BT
Assets B'E
Property, plant and equipment M BERERE 62,042,821 66,264,213
Right-of-use assets EREEE 62,114,580 -
Prepaid land lease payments FEM LM ERE - 66,340,980
Cash and short term deposits RERIEHER 9,944,291 8,259,491
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEREZEE 134,101,692 140,864,684
Liabilities afR
Accruals FE 5t ERIE (235,279) (285,177)
Deferred tax liabilities B IES & (13,356,987)  (14,265,840)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets ~ B HEARIEHE
classified as held for sale ZEEERBRZzEE (13,592,266) (14,551,017)
Net assets directly associated with HHEHNBEZAR
the disposal group ZEERE 120,509,426 126,313,667
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. BB
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Final - HK0.13 cent per share for 2020 RHEARG B —20204 & R%0.13
(HK0.11 cent per share for 2019) B4l (2019F & 8Z0.11781l) 2,795,054 2,365,046

A final dividend of HK0.13 cent per share amounting to
HK$2,795,054 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: HK0.11 cent per share amounting to approximately
HK$2,365,046) has been proposed by the directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

BEEZMEE2020FE3831HLE
FREIRMTREAIR S SR0.1381 > &
2,795,054 7T (20194F : = RR0. 117841 »
B £492,365,04687T) © AFRENRFE
ERRBEAG LHER > FHRES -

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13. BAREBEGZHEAREESER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 2#

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount BEREABINEHZBREEES
is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the ANEBEFEGHNRFREFTEER
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 0 #E 3 39 $12,150,041,8848% (20194 :
2,150,041,884 (2019: 2,150,191,944) in issue during the year. 2,150,191,9448%) 5t & o

2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit attributable to owners of the parent, ARt EERELRBNZ
used in basic earnings per share calculation BREEE AEGLIGEF 3,142,995 2,657,173
Number of shares

AhE 4= ]

2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year for the purposes of
basic earnings per share calculation

FH

BRsESRERENZ
FABETEERMNE

2,150,041,884 2,150,191,944

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

AN B A8 E20204F 2019463 8
MHIEFEETEABTHENEZE
BITEIERR o
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

14.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERSZE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g frfA » ~
BF WERE BERASE RERRR AE BRI ]
Note HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
izt BT BT BT BT BT BT B
Att April 2018, net of accumulated  FA20185E4B1R »
depreciation MRRGHE 6884415 2178586 360053 B8MA3 2856372 4503119 151,064,566
Addiions HE - - 1165956 2363666 T06 29808916 33,686,444
Depreciaton provided during the year AT E R (3170825)  (96958)  (4S4T6T) (104697 (574T2T) - (M467.349)
Disposalsfrite-off HE /i (11,678) - (288075) (67,374) (30,713) - (T8
Acaquisiton of a new subsidiary WE-FHHELR - - - 242,005 - - 242,005
Reclassified to assets held for sale ~ EFNEE
BEHEZEE 11 (66,264,219) - - - - (66,264213)
Exchange realignment ERAE (T202884)  (101607) (657925 (617488 (143.9%0) (885  (11,282,698)
At31 March 2019 and 1 Aprl 2019, FA2019E3B31R R
net of accumulated depreciaton 20194 B1H
MRRE N2UG5 100 4RGN BTEI0 22489 BISBA0  95560915
Addiions HE - TH T Ho0M 3478818 - BTHEM 9147318
Depreciaton provided durng e year VI E R (525554)  (815400) (4682306  (2507213)  (499.945) - (0,030,368)
Disposalsfrite-off HE /M - - (54,146) (20757) - - (74903)
Transfer & - 283,260 - - - () B
Exchange realignment ER (1,271,8%) (19005)  (17409%)  (564469) (94151)  (5007766)  (8,698,184)
At 31 March 2020 RNnEIRYA 18437428 100843 23627556 9451700 1660803 15967283 169,904,578
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g frB
BF WMERE BERME RERRE RE  EEIR 1]
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT B BT BT BT BT
At 31 March 2019 ROEIRNE :
Cost A& 0O 3066085 5120203 IBATHT T8I 33TEIE0 144305678
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (10462386) (1916064  (1800314)  (44217T)  (5143822) - (48764763
Net carrying amount RESE MD815 1190021 29402620 87650 2254809 BTE0 95560915
At 31 March 2020: RUNEIRNA .
Cost e WIAGH  STISTIE 006648 20307350 T80 115967253 223,08417
Accumulated depreciation FHIE (10304218)  (2653003) (24469092  (11,235,650)  (5360986) - (540238%9)
Net carrying amount REFE 18437420 05843 23627586 9150700 1660803  M5.967255 169,904,578

At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$115,709,641 (2019: Nil) were pledged to secure general

banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

7202038310 » AEBEKREEELN
A115,709,6413 7¢ (20194 : |®) NEF 9
¥ BEARREEEMFEARTIEERN

—RR IR

—=

TR

0 YR (FI5E26) o
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 Bt E20204£3/5 31 H IFFEE

15.  LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for leased land, clinics,
offices and warehouses used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 30 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Leases of clinic, office and warehouse generally have lease terms
between 2 and 3 years.

(a) Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 April 2019)

15. fHE

FEBEEAEBA

FEERHEEMANEAEL

B -MAEREEITAHEES
o MEZFIMBEENERR > BN
[ EESHEE TR AT ELH — R

A

o MHHAA0ESE  HER &

BT TERMRIE - 2P~ WAER
BENHEEER2EF -

(@)

FET L7 E 7 I8 (20195451
H#i)

2019

HK$

BT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 201841 B Z BREE 117,621,068

Reclassified to assets held for sale ENMNBEERFEHEZEE (66,340,980)

Recognised during the year FRHER (3,420,690)

Exchange realignment PE R (8,747,732)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 2019383 H Z EREE 39,111,666
Analysed into: pakige

Current portion mEER S 863,203

Non-current portion SESRENER1RD 38,248,463

39,111,666

(b) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

(b)

EHESE
FEFREREESEZREERE

and the movements during the year are as follows: ANEEWNT :
Prepaid Clinics,
land lease offices and
payments warehouses Total
FE(T Lt ZFR-MAE
HEME REE 4t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 #22019F481H
B EREE 39,111,666 8,951,530 48,063,196
Additions "B - 1,144,752 1,144,752
Depreciation charge EMX (835,587) (5,211,633) (6,047,220)
Exchange realignment PE R A% (2,464,238) (7,148) (2,471,386)
Carrying amount 31 March 2020 #%202053831H
HARE (B 35,811,841 4,877,501 40,689,342

At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group’s right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$32,976,453 (2019: Nil) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

FL2020F 38318 » AERREF

{E49732,976,45378 7T (20194 : ) 19
ETHERRESECHRFEARTAE
B —ARIRITREE IR (Mi5E26) o
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

15. LEASES (continued) 15. & @
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBREAFRBA @
(c) Lease liabilities (c) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaRZRAERFERNESEU
during the year are as follows: T
2020
HK$
BT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 #2019 F4B 1B EREE 8,951,530
Additions "B 1,144,752
Accretion of interest recognised during the year I FEERAYF B2 18 0 311,132
Payment (NEN (5,384,245)
Exchange realignment ER AR (6,425)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 722020538 31 H BV ER EI (B 5,016,744
Analysed into: o
Current portion TRENER R 4,331,556
Non-current portion JEREERD 685,188
5,016,744
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HERRZIBADINNMBRE
36 to the financial statements. MIzE36 IR EE o
(d)  The amount recognised in profit or loss for the year ended (d) MEZE2020F3[/NEIEFERT
31 March 2020 in relation to leases are as follows: PSSR EERMRIEDT ¢
HK$
BT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEMNE 311,132
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEEITERS 6,047,220
Expenses relating to short-term leases and other E2%5 BAFH & & FI&FH HA
leases with remaining lease terms ended on 72202053831 B K Z A 4G 3R
or before 31 March 2020 ZHEHEMHEANRES 1,094,876
Total amount recognised in profit or loss BRI IEE%E 7,453,228
(e) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31 to () TEMREMELARRENMBHRE

the financial statements. Mz EE o
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16.  GOODWILL 16. HE
HK$
BT
31 March 2020 20205£3831H
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of accumulated impairment ~ $22019E481H Z L A<1& >
N RsHAE 104,827,352
Impairment during the year FARIE (2,881,666)
Exchange realignment PE R (6,931,058)
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2020 72202038318 Z AREE(E 95,014,628
At 31 March 2020: F220205E3H318 ©
Cost 0% 3| 100,038,005
Accumulated impairment RKEtRE (5,023,377)
Net carrying amount IRERE 95,014,628
31 March 2019 201953H31H
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated impairment ~ $220185E48B1H Z A< 1& >
MR R5tRE 112,148,013
Acquisition of a subsidiary IWEEMT B A F 1,321,530
Exchange realignment PE A (8,642,191)
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2019 2019538310 Z IR FE 104,827,352
At 31 March 2019: 22019838318
Cost FX A {E 106,969,063
Accumulated impairment Rt RE (2,141,711)
Net carrying amount IREFE 104,827,352

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units (“CGU(s)”) for

impairment testing:

8 R E R

i) AR

BREBGHEBZEELDE
EMVREELEMUF(REELE

. Pharmaceutical products CGU for Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical

. Pharmaceutical products CGU for Tianda Chinese Medicine
(China) Ltd. (“TCM (China)”)

. Pharmaceutical products CGU for Zhuhai Tianda Processed
Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd. (“Zhuhai TPCHM”)

. Pharmaceutical products CGU for Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai)

BEREXBREERRSELE
i

RAFEE (PE) BRAR (K
APBE (FE) ") zBEERR
TEEEBEN
KBRAPERRBRLQE (Fk
BRAPERR) 2BEERER
EELEN

RAREE (%ig) 2 BEERRS
EEE
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

16.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Pharmaceutical products CGUs for Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical, TCM (China) and Zhuhai TPCHM

The recoverable amounts of the pharmaceutical products
CGUs have been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the pharmaceutical products
CGUs beyond the five-year period is the same as the long term
average growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

Pharmaceutical products CGU for Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai)

The recoverable amount of the pharmaceutical products
CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the pharmaceutical products
CGU beyond the five-year period is the same as the long term
average growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

16. £ @)

BERENS (@
BEFE « XAPEE (FE) RFEX
APBBAZEBERTEEELEN
BEEoRSEEEUIKOE
FEENERABEAEMEE » HiR
REESREEBH ERERFIZHM
BREZRERERA - HERFH
BRzBEERREELEMURER
ERBZERFABETENREY
B REMER -

KARE (%) ZRREGREEE
#y

BRERRSELEUTNES
MERNEREEH AR K
REEREREERERFBH
BEEZRERBAA  HHEFH
Mk BRESRSELBARST
ERAHEERBRETENRET
191 R o

Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM Zhuhai  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) TPCHM (Zhuhai)
RAHEBE KBXK PN H
REmx (E) hERRA (¥%%)
31 March 2020 2020538318
Discount rate BRE 15.59% 16.35% 18.11% 16.54%
Terminal growth rate KABRE 3% 3% 3% 3%
31 March 2019 2019538318
Discount rate BRE 13.96% 14.34% 17.00% 13.96%
Terminal growth rate KABEE 3% 3% 2% 3%

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the pharmaceuticals products cash-generating units for 31 March
2020 and 2019. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

R T FABL 5t 20204 201943 5 31
HREERRSELEUNEREE U
THEHINEEERANRERERAETHE
BENHFENSARRER

TR R — BT R IR 1
E%o
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16.  GOODWILL (continued) 16. BE ®w

IR/ x Az EREAR

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is with reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the pharmaceutical industry and discount rates

are consistent with external information sources.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the

BERENS @
REEMNX-BUEEREER

REENEELSEREREFEN

—FFTERMENE -

AEIRE - Fr A RAIR R A BRI AD
3 fiz Bk B4R BR BB {1 A RA B9 45 E JRL B2

-

o

AREEEENBEERTSE
BRMBRERNEEZRREINBE IR
R—B o

PEESREELENUZHEZ

cash-generating units is as follows: IREEWT :
Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM Zhuhai  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) TPCHM (Zhuhai) Total
EAPEE KBRA XA
Bragx (PE) PERR (¥%8) wE
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
Carrying amount of goodwill ~ F*2020&38318
as at 31 March 2020 ZBEREE 5,764,669 1,365,346 - 87,884,613 95,014,628
Carrying amount of goodwill 12019438318
as at 31 March 2019 ZEEREE 6,156,916 3,195,853 1,340,138 94,134,445 104,827,352

During the year, the management of the Company
determined that there was no impairment of goodwill in the CGUs
for Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical and Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai). The recoverable amounts of the CGUs for Zhuhai
TPCHM and TCM (China) were HK$2,414,661 and HK$3,140,687,
respectively. Full impairment of HK$1,254,763 (2019: Nil) and
impairment of HK$1,626,903 (2019: Nil) were made for the
goodwill attributable to the CGUs for Zhuhai TPCHM and TCM
(China), which are included in the segment of Chinese medical
business, respectively, during the year ended 31 March 2020 as
a result of postponement in launching of new products during the
year.

ERAACEEERE B
BRRKEE (KB NREELEUNEHE
WHERE KBRAPERR RRXRATHE
E(hE) WRESESBEUNTIREISEES
Bl 2,414,661 7T 523,140,687 7T - RE =
202053831 B IEFEEMERIBR AP EER
ARRAKPELE (FE) (HEBHFEEESD
M MREELBENELEHEDRERR
181,254,763 75 (20194 : &) RBR i E
1,626,903 7T (20194 : &%) > EEAFERIE
BEHIER -
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Year enaed 31 March 2020 BLE 202043531 H IFFEE

16.  GOODWILL (continued) 16. BE @

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The effect of the reasonably possible change in
key assumptions on the calculation of value in use of the
cash-generating units, which would cause the carrying amounts to
equal to the recoverable amounts are disclosed below.

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
average growth rate by 4% would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
average growth rate by 7% would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

TCM (China) and Zhuhai TPCHM

During the year, impairments were made for the CGUs and
there was no headroom between the carrying amount and the
recoverable amount.

BERENS (@

TXHETERRNVGETES
EHREELBEUEREENBENR
g ARFEYEMRESHEERET
XK BRI AU O£ 58 -

BERE

FATEEFERR > PIIERXT
4% BEHIREEL EUMNREEM
FREAIURE £ 5] - AT W[ = 58P
KENEECETZRKVEMSEATLE
CHFEERREELBUMNKREE
BHHERWKEEEE -

XABE (F)

KABDERRR > FHIEREXT
7% ERIRE EE BRI (EE
FERHEAIUREEER AT W (e & 58
RENHETEZRIVEMSEARE
EHFEERRTELTEUNKREE
BHEAUEEEE -
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17.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HEBFEE

Licences Development
and permits costs Total
BRI E RS 4R
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
31 March 2020 2020538318
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of 2019548 1B 2
accumulated amortisation A& - H0FR
ety 28,486,293 - 28,486,293
Additions during the year FRRE - 8,407,138 8,407,138
Amortisation provided during the year £ Py {8 85 33 1% (4,442,168) - (4,442,168)
Exchange realignment BE A (1,669,274) (275,432) (1,944,706)
At 31 March 2020 122020538 31H 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
At 31 March 2020: h220205E3H318 ©
Cost %3 88,885,470 8,131,706 97,017,176
Accumulated amortisation ReHg (66,510,619) - (66,510,619)
Net carrying amount REFE 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
31 March 2019 2019538 31H
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of #2018%F4B1BZ
accumulated amortisation ﬁﬁ?ME > H1ER
Rty 33,343,979 - 33,343,979
Amortisation provided during the year £ Py {8 85 33 15 (4,698,901) - (4,698,901)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y g — R B A B 2,254,837 - 2,254,837
Exchange realignment ERAE (2,413,622) - (2,413,622)
At 31 March 2019 201938 31H 28,486,293 - 28,486,293
At 31 March 2019: H22019E38318 -
Cost 7N 94,769,208 - 94,769,208
Accumulated amortisation Ketigs (66,282,915) - (66,282,915)
Net carrying amount REFEE 28,486,293 - 28,486,293
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 18. IEEAMAABEIIAEERM

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Wz AFRE
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Equity investments designated at fair value ISESRAABEITAEE
through other comprehensive income EEWEZRERE
Listed equity investments, ASLAN shares, FHRAKE DRI
at fair value 1n > HAREE 1,306,520 8,990,647
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated MU ERARIGE T Aol HiH s E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group ARARBEFAEEZE R >
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. AREBETALEREBFRIEMEEH o
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials EM 16,600,227 13,466,533
Work in progress ERA 6,931,245 9,899,146
Finished goods % &m 24,842,652 25,411,307
48,374,124 48,776,986
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138 B

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. PFEUSXBRFR B FEUN Z 15

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Trade receivables FE W BR =X 53,369,322 69,778,370
Impairment A (168,039) (4,721)
53,201,283 69,773,649

Bills receivables U ZE 4 38,164,180 8,516,061
91,365,463 78,289,710

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly KERERERFZEGAFRAETE

on credit, except for new customers where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit periods are ranged from 60 to
180 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large
number of customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

LRERAT  HHER—REEFEL
I8 o EEHIEE A60E180K A E °
NEBHREBREURIEHEIFTEEE
B IR ECEEEESMBEERR
BRERK SREEBTCHER S
R BN EXFERRASER
FEWEER R ERER I RREER
W EEBREREERR - AEREM
ERF AR EWRTERVIEIR R
HEMAEELHE - BRI U
ZEARE o

RE|EHR > UERAHPAEE
HIERFEWR AR TR 2 BB 5 1R B 1 BY R LY
SRR BRI ZAREDITNT :

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

#IT BT

Within 1 month BB A 66,180,288 58,448,762
1 to 2 months 12218 B 7,261,403 10,278,397
2 to 3 months 2E3EAR 5,835,823 5,083,244
Over 3 months MEB UL 12,087,949 4,479,307
91,365,463 78,289,710
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEUWERFR B EML R R @)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEW R MR 2 BB R 1E 2 2 F)
trade receivables are as follows: mE:
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year RER] 4,721 8,287
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses, net  JE{& " (B[ {E) E548;5 %8 163,318 (3,566)
At end of year REL 168,039 4,721
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REIMREREEIET A
date by assigning an internal credit rating with reference to RASEXREENBERRE TR
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability EETR  UREEANT/RESE B
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market KIERTHIRBEHIZERMEE - BEX
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current HESELAE  URMRREERTK
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as HRRGERROTER (MEA) - —
appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past s BWERRMEaRBE—FH
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement AZREHITEEIRCE > BIFHs o
activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXEHINAEBERKIERZEE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: REE R
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating S8 F4RER Notes loss rate amount losses
FEHEE FEHAE &
B 5% BEE EEREE 548
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
As at 31 March 2020 142020538318
Class 1 #1458 (i) 46,660,027 -
Class 2 248 (ii) 0.23 1,460,245 3,346
Class 3 E=RES] (iii) 2.86 4,716,214 135,037
Class 4 F448 (iv) 5.66 523,836 29,656
Total 4z 53,369,322 168,039
As at 31 March 2019 720195%3H31H
Class 1 B148 (i) ~ 60,521,020 -
Class 2 #5248 (i) 0.05 4,773,321 2,504
Class 3 E=RE] (iii) 0.05 4,484,029 2,217
Total 4z 69,778,370 4,721
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20.

140 ESEEEEERE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i) Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and have a
good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past due.

(if) Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and have
a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the Group
expects that the receivables can be recovered.

(i) Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group but
have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the
Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

(iv)  Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group expects
high risk of irrecoverability for the receivables.

At 31 March 2020, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai),
a subsidiary of the Group, discounted certain bills receivable
without recourse to banks in Mainland China (the “Derecognised
Bills”) with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB3,858,060
(equivalent to HK$4,186,924). The Derecognised Bills had
a maturity of one to six months at the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating
to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the
full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

20.

FEURBR 7R B FE U 4% (@)

M=

()  SHEEFPRAKRERFREIERERETR
RBERERHE RYF o FEWARRR IS RIaHA

(iy FHEFPRHEAERRTERERTR
RERCHERT - EKRREAHE
B B T8 51 7T U [l FE URBR 7 ©

(i) PERPAHHTEARERETR
S BERCHRET -ERIRREHE
HA > B EBTE T UK O] FEURBRER ©

(v) SBAEFFHEIGRREEE > B4AER
FAst FEWERREFEBIE W EIR S B

202038318 » Z"EEZ B
NEIRKREE (Bg) UEBRERE
& stIREE A A R#3,858,0607T (18
B 504,186,924 75) VA T REKERM
PEAMAIRITINIR (B LERE
B) o MIREHAR  ZECKRIERHER
EZEMEIHAA—ZNEAR - Rigd
BEZE L WhENIRITELS B
IEERZENFEASEAEREBER
(FEZE) cBERA FEH
EREBAR IR ERERANE RS
DR R CERER o ALt 0 AEEB
RIEFEIEARIEEIZRMN 2 IERE
B - AXREEEEKRILERIZENG
BE2EKRARBOLEERIEEIE
BHARMBEREREMELENRSH
ERABHEENREEREE EFTS
FEERFEZHBRIEEIZENA
ABELFEE -
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20.

21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWRRTR B FEW SRR ()

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has B E2020FE3831HILEEE > &
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the EEIENEZECALBRIZELN
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the AR EIE c FR RS
Continuing Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively. B WEHFHES MU eSS o

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group still retains 1220204 &20194E3831H » A~ &
virtually all its risks and rewards, including the risk of default BENREXTRERMEKRER  B1F
on bills receivables with amount of HK$38,164,180 (2019: 38,164,18078 7T (20194 : 8,516,06178 7T)
HK$8,516,061). These bills receivables are due within 90 days HEWEENENRR - ZERIKE
and are classified as financial assets at fair value through other BEHROBANEIE > U REAEARE
comprehensive income (31 March 2019: financial assets at Bt AHEZEKBRENEHEZE (2019
amortised cost). In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the FIB3MH | HEEM AT ENEME
fair values of these bills receivables are approximate to their BE) o KATIEERA > ZERKER
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these HNARBEAHKEREES  FTER
receivables. There was no recent history of default from bills HRZERWEEN AR -
receivables and the Group estimated that the expected loss rate Wi ERITHEN R MmA S
for bills receivables is minimal. Bt EWEENTERGIEXRER o
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21, FARIE - BERHEREIR

2020 2019
HK$ HK$
B BT
Non-current JEFRED
Deposit for acquisition of items of property, BB ~ R KRB
plant and equipment 2% E 1,882,893 160,260
Current nE
Prepayments SERNE O] 5,263,280 1,751,635
Deposits & 7,380,456 5,326,154
Other receivables HE B 1,452,835 1,827,377
14,096,571 8,905,166
Impairment allowance REEE (42,949) (68,251)
14,053,622 8,836,915
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FEfiHIE - M REECEWKS @

(continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of RERHETCRWERZ R ERER
deposits and other receivables are as follows: BzEEBUWT
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year RER] 68,251 76,515
Reversal of impairment losses, net B OlLREEIEFEE (25,302) (8,264)
At end of year RER 42,949 68,251
During the year ended 31 March 2020, HK$25,302 (2019: 8 F20204 38318 LEE
HK$8,264) was credited as a reversal of provision for expected 25,3027 77 (20194F : 8,264 7T) fEA R
credit losses on deposits and other receivables. The provision ERECERRZFERESEEE G
rates are based on an internal credit rating with reference to BOomEs - BEXDLER2ELE
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability BTz NEBEETRUAETE
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market HBE - BUBRDRETSBEER
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current o BAREMARURMERK T
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as R R R HEARTTRA (N &)
appropriate.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TX&EIAERIZEREERK
exposure on the Group’s deposits and other receivables: MZEERBER :
As at 31 March 2020 $22020F3831H
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEHEEXR 0.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) MERmEE (BT) 8,833,291
Expected credit losses (HK$) TEHAE B R518 (B 42,949
As at 31 March 2019 12201938 31H
Expected credit loss rate FEHfEERBEE 0.9%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) “ARmEE (BJT) 7,313,791
Expected credit losses (HK$) TEHAE ER518 (B T) 68,251
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22. STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented wealth management products issued by a bank. As at
31 March 2020 and 2019, the aggregate principal of deposits was
fully guaranteed by the bank while the rates of return were not
guaranteed. The structured deposits were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. The
fair values were based on the market values provided by the bank
at the end of the reporting period.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and
bank balances (excluding those classified as held for sale)
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$273,499,384 (2019:
HK$331,109,937). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

24. TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

22,

23.

24,

HRBEER

EREEREANEETIER R
RI[FITETHOMEEEEM © 122020
F 201953831 » FRAZ RS
IRITREIER > BRIRIRIHIER o
ERMEERNERERF D ERER
BaRRARBEZEMEE - AR
BEEENRITNERSHREHRZSD
ZEE-

RERBAEFEEE

REIREHR » ZEBUARKET
BEZHRERIRITER (FEESEAE
EHEE) A273,499,38478 7T (20194F :
331,109,937 7T) - ARBATEHSR
BAHTCEE AR EARES
EEERIEGRAERE - EERGESIE
HME > ZEETSEEAEETINEE
BZRTHRARERBRAHECEK -

EFRIRTZREBENESARTE
R RBFEFRERINA S © SRITHE
HERN RO EERCHZEER
YFEIIRTT ©

P& {3 AR 7R

REREHER > UBRZEAHAE
ERNRNIRRZERE DM T :

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 2 months A= 26,226,913 29,974,310
2 to 3 months 2E23EB 308,228 351,249
Over 3 months IMEB UL 2,261,895 1,476,025
28,797,036 31,801,584

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days.

FEFERF ARG R » —fRI30E
60K ABETE
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

25, HERftRKEEER

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
B = B BT
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 6,347,292 12,824,486
Other payables HERBMAM (b) 9,545,257 11,361,407
Accruals FEstEH 72,083,872 82,166,943
Dividend payables ERIRE 2,734,042 2,503,819
90,710,463 108,856,655
Notes: MisE
(@)  Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as (@)  H220205F K2019FE3A3MHNE N AR
follows: HBEWT
2020 2019
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Short-term advances received from customers B ULE FiEHAEARR
Sale of products HESm 6,347,292 12,824,486
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver EHEEEERHBEESRNBERE
pharmaceutical products. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2020 HABARR 0 2020 & B ERLVEERH
was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from REFRMBEERHEZBRERE
customers in relation to the sale of pharmaceutical products at the end HABTUR /D RS ©
of the year.
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of (b) HEEBMSRASAME > FHAHE=4E

three months.
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. s RIRITEM
2020 2019
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$ rate (%) Maturity HKS
ERFEY)  HBRE Br BENE®) R BT
Current; it |
Bank loans - secured RTER-HHEA 5.1 202 607735 NAFXER NATER -
WNE
Non-current: FERE
Bank loans - secured RITER-BHEA 545 2022-205 19609020 NARER NAXER -
WNE
- 0055
20,216,764 -
2020 2019
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Analysed into: PR i
Bank loans repayable: AR LT HAREIEN
RITE !
Within one year or on demand —FAREEEER 607,735 -
In the second year BIER 2,723,955 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BZEFRERN
(BEERWE) 16,885,074 -
20,216,764 -
Notes: M 5
(@)  The bank loans bear interest at floating rates at Loan Prime Rate +1% @ SRITERRIEFIE BIFERERTIZHR
and are denominated in RMB. BFZI+1%) st EMUN RIS AL o
(b)  As at 31 March 2020, the bank loans are secured by the pledge of (b) 2020838318 > IRITERUUMEIRE
certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets, certain property, plant S EEX 272,843,495 7T (20194 © 4E)
and equipment and assets of a disposal group held for sale with an NAERETEREEE - 5aTYWE
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$272,843,495 (2019: BERZEURGELEANZEE
Nil). In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the pledge on assets of EIRIR - KRB EER A HELE
a disposal group held for sale will be released before disposal. AR ZEEZIEPR N B ERIAER o
(c)  As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unutilised banking facilities of (c)  HR20205E3831H » REEKREA 2 IR
HK$191,405,231 (2019: Nil). 1TRAE 2191,405, 23158 7T (20194F : 48) o
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. IRIERIBEAR
Fair value Fair value Withholding
adjustment  adjustment tax on
of property, ~ arising from Prepaid Other  distributable
plantand  acquisition of lease intangible profits of
equ*i%ment a suhsidiarg payments assets  subsidiaries Total
e
BER  KEAR HEAT
®EZ -3 A
LREE  AARE  Bfid HE it A
hE #wE HERE  BWEE R et
Notes HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
i BT BT BT BT B BT
At 1 April 2018 R21854518 3462,959 - BT 7,860,981 524086 24409730
Deferred tax credited to profit FEREBHHA
or loss during the year bA ifig;0 10 (118,830) (45,065) (430,364)  (1,049,702) (193676)  (1,837,637)
Acquisiton of a subsidiary I 0% . 563,709 - . . 563709
Transferred to a disposal group BEERELEY
classfied as held for sale \\&%ﬁﬁﬂm 11 (3,038,014) - (11.207,86) - - (14.265840)
Exchange realignment ER#AE (306,109) 8273 (083540)  (579.997) - (17613
A3 March 2019 and at 1 Apri 2019 1R2019EE3R31H
Ri201954R1H - 526,917 - 6,261,262 330,390 7,108,589
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to ERERE GIA)/
proftor los during the year Mz BEHRE 10 - (48,930) - 974,944 105,776 1,031,790
Exchange realignment ERHE _ (31,965) _ (430,198) _ (462,163)
AL 31 March 2020 RNNESAE Y - GT0B 46166 7678206

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and
Australia of HK$109,712,000 (2019: HK$105,845,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax
losses arising in Mainland China and Macau of HK$21,352,000
(2019: HK$7,111,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen from subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% (2019: 10%). The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders.

SXEBREREEBRBEKAF
DM ERAARIEHEEFEZ
NEMKRKRERREN 2 IRIBEE
109,712,00038 75 (20194F : 105,845,000
7T) o ANEBINA R B A B RS
T BT A 5 3 85 oK 2R FE s AR A1) Re i it
—ERERERmZRIEEE21,352,000
7T (20194F 1 7,111,000375) © R
f%ﬁ%@e%ﬁ ER B RAAI B B A

BB AR KA RER EEREH UL
mﬂm%@a’mt I E% F SR
RIRTERIBEE o

RIBFFRTCEMRERE
BB AMERININRIRE ¥
ShEHR E B P S K AR 55 7B M 4310%
FEIN o ZHE B2008FE1 A1 B E XK
RiEBR007ERBMBEEENE
) o fis o B A PR B SMEE 4% B & P E )
ERETUMBEL > BEMNTEINR
EHFRE - MEAEBNS » BHAREK
5% (20194F 1 10%) o FUEAEE A7
o B A B B 3T Y 5% 5 Y B A =) 12008
F1E1BEEERFFIDIKIIER B
MTEINM o

25 A B (A H AR SRR A AR S 3 S Bt
WATSIRER -

33’
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28.  SHARE CAPITAL 28. Rgs
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
B BT
Authorised: ERE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 4,000,000,0008% = f&
HK$0.1 each EHEABTZEZIER 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of 2,150,041,884 0% & R&
HK$0.1 each HEN1IBTTZEER 215,004,188 215,004,188
A summary of movement in the Company’s share capital is KRB AZEBHEIIWT :
as follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
2817
2h g 4= B s
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid: ERITREE :
At 1 April 2018 H22018E481H 2,150,475,884 215,047,588
Shares repurchased A ) (434,000) (43,400)
At 31 March 2019 and 2020 1220194 B2202053H31H 2,150,041,884 215,004,188
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company REE2019F3831B LLFE »
repurchased 434,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange for KATREBERERERAT EMUENR
a total consideration of HK$113,090 which was paid wholly 18113,0907% 7T 72 B 32 Fr i [2] 434,000
out of share premium in accordance with the Cayman Islands KM ZRNEBERHABARMDEE
Companies Law. The repurchased shares were cancelled during Xt o FrREE 2 B 1D B &L 20195
the year ended 31 March 2019 and HK$43,400 and HK$69,690 SA3MB L FE R 2 43,4008 7T &
have been charged to the share capital and share premium of the 69,6907 T E D A TEAR R B R A K BB
Company, respectively. EREPRIRR o
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29.

148 B

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 72 of the financial
statements.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal
of Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tinwise
Group”) in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a shareholder;
(2) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of the packaging and printing business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company;
(3) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a deemed
capital contribution from the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange in 1992.

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements
and (2) the provision for production safety being accrued by a
subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based
on operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety
funds), which is transferred from retained profits to the statutory
reserves and could be utilised when expenses and capital
expenditures in production maintenance and safety measures are
incurred.

29.

f#E

A R 5 8 (S BB A
MEBRREEREE GAER
B o

HE#EBEARRI 2010EHE X
AT EE M B A B Tinwise Investment
Limited 5z E fff /&8 2 B (4% #8“Tinwise &
) ZRESNRFEEZAREE
EA—BIREBEZIREHE ; (2) 2012F
HEGERINRIERE 2 RKESHRTH
EZAREE FARKRERATZ
BIELEE; Q) 0NEHERESRE
BzRESNFIHEZAREE F
ARBIERABTZHRIEHE -

BREEDERBRBE—IRRE
BEARRERMH1992FE TR £
METZ AR EMEFRETZRAEE
BIPTIRIE— M B AR Z A mEW
Bz E

EE BTSN R E R Z MY
BRABIZEERBEFEEZEMHRE
MmEZEMZZH B RB ZRIREEF
FHETEALEZDERQEERSR
ZBE o T — R R R A B LAE
ERABBERT F2%E4% 2 BIEF
RELX HEREELZEZES) > AR
BRMNEREAERE  ARNEES
BREZEEREESZHRERFHXE
A -
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON- 30. BB EAKIEERIESNBHMER

CONTROLLING INTERESTS MiEAS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material A EAIFIERE R 2 A EREM
non-controlling interests are set out below: BABFREIWT :
2020 2019
Percentage of equity interest held by JEERERTAN
non-controlling interests: IREBDE :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical A EE 45% 45%
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling 43 fic % JE = RS HE 2 Y
interests: KEERF :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical BRA g 5,657,211 13,325,770
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of Bk FRAEREE
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical FEERERNKS 14,505,712 -
Accumulated balances of non-controlling R ERES HEARIIEIERR
interests at the reporting date: R B Rt ER ¢
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R 36,986,233 33,763,345
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-  30. B EXRIEEREZNIBHIES
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) B 2T @

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRAPAEE EEN T BRI
information of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical. The amounts EoBENEEEETFHERMARM
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: i Z Al -

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical
BREmE

2020 2019

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Revenue A 196,588,988 327,988,281

Total expenses MR (184,017,409) (298,373,927)

Profit for the year NEEGEF 12,571,579 29,614,354

Total comprehensive income for the year KEEEENEEEE 7,161,972 23,520,667

Current assets REEE 60,185,748 114,883,318

Non-current assets ERIEE 47,179,059 50,267,986

Current liabilities REaE (24,784,300)  (92,673,005)

Non-current liabilities EREIEE (388,878) (531,247)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating (BR) /RBEKE TSN

activities REREREE (6,309,913) 37,122,897
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities ~ (FB#%) /SR BB EEHH

Be i8R (1,013,006) 62,655

Net cash flows used in financing activities ARRmEESHNREREFEE (31,203,560) (17,190,021)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash HeEkREEEEE
equivalents GRiZD) /18 0B 4E (38,526,479) 19,995,531
31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH  31. (& REREBRM:E

ISR *rzs5EAR

FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,144,752 and
HK$1,144,752, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
clinics, offices and warehouses.

(a EEBIIREXRS

FER > NEBBRZ - WAER
BEMNHEE R 95H1,144,7528
TTR1144 71528 T IEIREFEHEE
ERAEAEEM-
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 3.
FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

FAERERERME @

(b) RMEFBHEENRGEEE:

Interest- Due to a
Lease  bearing bank Dividend non-controlling
liabilities borrowings payables shareholder
HE=) ANE[32d:
HEaRE IR1TER RS B RFRIE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2018 #20184E4 818 - - 1,771,345 -
Dividend declared BEERKRE - - 7,525,146 -
Dividend paid EfRE - ~(6792672) -
Dividend declared to BEIRTFIFER
a non-controlling BRRZKE
shareholder - - - 14,674,913
Foreign exchange movement ¥} B % & - - - (169,201)
At 31 March 2019 2019438310 - - 2,503,819 14,505,712
Effect of adoption of HKFRS ~ HR4AE B FRE
16 ZERIBRNTE 8,951,530 - - -
At 1 April 2019 (restated) 122019548 1H
(FRE5) 8,951,530 - 2,503,819 14,505,712
Changes from financing REMERSE
cash flows ENEE (5,073,113) 20,901,531 - -
New leases WwHE 1,144,752 - - -
Dividend declared (Note 12) B EIRIEE
(Pi5E12) - - 2,365,046 -
Dividends paid BKRE - - (2,134,823) -
Interest expense FERAXZ 311,132 - - -
Interest paid classified as PEARERENRE
operating cash flows ZBEMAFIE (311,132) - - -
Foreign exchange movement ¥ EE 4 & (6,425) (684,767) - -
Dividends paid to a BNFIEERRR
non-controlling ZRE
shareholder - - - (14,505,712)
At 31 March 2020 1202038318 5,016,744 20,216,764 2,734,042 -
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.
FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

SARFHRERME®

(c) HEMNRERLEE
SPAREREREBRNFERE
MRERWE ¢

2020
HK$
BT
Within operating activities REEEEHRN (1,406,008)
Within financing activities REEEER (5,073,113)
(6,479,121)
32. COMMITMENTS 32. KR

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

(a) AEERBEHFREUTESEK
o

2020 2019
HK$ HK$
HIT BT
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAEREME
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRE 133,075,811 20,155,541

(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019

The Group leases certain of its offices and warehouses
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for offices and
warehouses are negotiated for terms ranging from one to three
years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

(b) F20195E 3831 H RS THAY IR
SEFERCERNTHHRERES

FHAERBE -KIFEZIHAER

BEMANFEHRANFI1EIF -

1220195E3831H » AEBREAR
BIHEH A E AN T 5 HARR B BT A
Wz RERRBELARIBLEENT ¢

2019
HK$
BT
Within one year —F R 5,560,993
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FERAERN (BEEERE) 4,073,093
9,634,086
RAEEFRAF
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

(@)

33. FAEALRSB

BRIAEIRRETIMNELRZRS
h o REBRERNBEREALTE
TUATRS .

2020 2019
Notes HK$ HK$
i AT BT
Purchases of package materials R TR KRR YR
and designing services:
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng LERER &R
Printing Co. Ltd. RENEAERAT (i) 3,059,658 5,444,975
Office rental expenses: WMAEHEE !
Tianda (China) Ltd. RAEBE (PE) BR2E (i) - 427,665
Short-term lease payment of office: A ESTHAHE TN -
Tianda (China) Ltd. RAEBE (PE) BR2AE (i) 552,888 -
Design fee expenses: REtE
Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. FNRKEIBRBRAE (i) 101,413 -
Notes: Wizt :

(i) Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The purchases from Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. to its major customers.

(i) Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(i)~ Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

Outstanding balance with a related party:

The Group had an outstanding trade balance due to a
fellow subsidiary, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing
Co. Ltd., of HK$589,478 (2019: HK$690,501) as at the
end of the reporting period. This balance is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and with a credit term within 90 days.
As at the end of the reporting period, the balance was aged
within 2 months based on invoice date.

() HEBEERBERMNFERAE
AERBHNERMBAT - @I
BB R ENFE R R AT
BRRF BB RN

AERMHHTERZRZER
REB IR

iy RKKEZ (FE)BRAITAR
RENRRKBARE - BRARSZ
€S EERE Z IR RSN
BT o

(i)  FNEKBIBRERLITABEATE
HRERKMBAT - BERAX A%
EH BB RE AR HEST ©

BRI AT Z REBER -

AEBRBESHRECSRRKB
NEHEEEFEAMENFAER
NEIZKREIEE 5 ERF 589,478
#B 7T (20194F :© 690,501 7T) ° 5%
ERAEIKE  REREEHA
QKR o RIS » ZAEiFRZ
RBEARBEZHH2MER
pq o
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33. FIEALTRG @

(c)

IV <Az EREAR

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: ) HAEEFEBEABME:
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee benefits EHEEREF 4,029,893 4,191,770
Post-employment benefits RIREF 79,500 81,024

Total compensation paid to key ENTEEEAEMNESIEZE

management personnel 4,109,393 4,272,794

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

On 22 February 2019, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its entire
interest in Zhuhai Realty to Tianda Group Limited (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) at a consideration
of no more than RMB145,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$168,200,000) in any event.

The transactions were approved by independent
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on
7 May 2019 and have not yet completed as at the date of
approval of these financial statements.

BERESEARETETHRAEMEZ
E—D R BEEN M HRARMIEES o

72019F2822H » ZEE T L
ERGEEWZ ARXKEH
BERAR (HAXAR ZER
BRE) HEKBEX 2R
& REEEABEREYASBE
A B 145,000,000 (B E 114
168,200,000 7T) ©

BERX S ER2019F587TH 817
ZREFHAE LB IRER
HEMR AR RTEREBEE
RITH ©
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. ERIRZER
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEHHARSESMTAZIRA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BAOTF :
2020
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value Financial assets at
through fair value through other
profit or loss comprehensive income
BAR
EEHA
Raz BRAREERA
THEE He2EWn 2 eMEE
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised Equity Debt
as such cost investments instruments Total
REENT
SiRZ
MHEE fRMEE  RIRE FABIR aE
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
B B B B B
Equity investments designated at fair {5 ARAABE A
value through other comprehensive HE2EWEZRERE
income - - 1,306,520 - 1,306,520
Trade receivables FEWER R - 53201,283 = - 53,201,283
Bills receivables ENZER - - - 38164180 38,164,180
Financial assets included in SARARE BER
prepayments, deposits and other HERbmzeMEE
receivables - 8,790,342 - - 8,790,342
Structured deposits ERAER 3,904,728 - - - 3904728
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIRLZEER - 302,018,369 - - 302,018,369
3,904,728 364,009,994 1,306,520 38,164,180 407,385,422
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34.

1% EEEEEEPE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

4. ERMTEZERN @

Financial liabilities EMA R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
14 85 P 25 5V AR
ZEMAa®
HK$
BT
Trade payables FE1TERFR 28,797,036
Financial liabilities included in SFARERMMKRESTER
other payables and accruals Z2EmMAEE 71,760,002
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 20,216,764
Lease liabilities HEAaE 5,016,744
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary Bt —REREZ M B AR RIE 589,478
126,380,024
2019
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at fair
Financial value through
assets at fair other
value through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BAR BRAREE
EfEs ABE FAHEZE
JERMEE BEZzERMER
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised Equity
as such cost investments Total
REBHERA
94
BT THEE REKE azm
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT
Fquity investments designated at fair value 5 E AR AL BE A
through other comprehensive income He2EWEZRARE - - 8,990,647 8,990,647
Trade receivables e - 69,773,649 - 69,773,649
Bills receivables ERZiE - 8,516,061 - 8,516,061
Financial assets included in prepayments, ~ tABFRHIE #EK
deposits and other receivables HeRbmzEMEE - 7,085,280 - 7,085,280
Structured deposits ERtER 57,954,216 - - 57,954,216
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEER - 384,908,930 - 384,908,930
57,954,216 470,283,920 8,990,647 537,228,783
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 34, EMIAZER @
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R IH AL AR T BR
ZEMEaEd
HK$
BT
Trade payables &1 BR =X 31,801,584
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAHERARAESER
and accruals ZERmEE 87,306,458
Due to a fellow subsidiary et —FE R 2 M B A B RIE 690,501
Due to a non-controlling shareholder FE — R IEIER B R IE 14,505,712
134,304,255
35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 3. EMIBZARBEKRAAEE

INSTRUMENTS

4R

The carrying amount and the fair value of the Group’s

financial instruments, other than those carrying amounts that

TEENERTA (KEEHE

HIRE(ERAABESEREERIN)

reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows: REERAAEENT :
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AREE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
3H31H 3H31H 3H31H 3H31H
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Financial assets EMEE
Equity investments designated EEARANEE
at fair value through other SFAEEZAERE
comprehensive income ZRAEKE 1,306,520 8,990,647 1,306,520 8,990,647
Bills receivables EREE 38,164,180 - 38,164,180 -
Structured deposits EEEER 3,904,728 57,954,216 3,904,728 57,954,216
43,375,428 66,944,863 43,375,428 66,944,863
Financial liabilities TWMafR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITMER 20,216,764 - 20,011,182 -
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35.

18 e

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, an amount due to a fellow subsidiary and an
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices.

The fair values of structured deposits were based on the
market values provided by the bank at the end of the reporting
period. They are estimated with the principle plus estimated
interest income based on expected annual rate of return.

The fair values of bills receivables and interest-bearing
bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The fair values of the interest-bearing
bank borrowings are categorised in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

35.

EMIAZAREBERAREE
3 X0

EEEENE > BRI B
RE SARMARE -RERHETRE
WRzEMEE RERREFER
B BRA - stARERMRKRE
StERAZEMER BY—HERRKN
BABMREUREMN—RIFEREKRR
MEZAABERESBZREEE
> FEARZEFIAEREHREE -

TREERBEZARNEBER
BREZS CrRaBsERiHeE) M
ERRSRETRIBNTANTEA
ik o ERB T B ERRRMGEF AR
BfE:

BRARBEFARCEZERTZZ
RAEKREZ ARBETDERTIZRE -

EREERNQABEDRER
TRHREMREHERNTESE - ZF
ERUAEM EHERFEORRAE
B9 & 5t S U A 5t o

RWRE R BIRITERNAR
BEDREFHRLUFR - FERARK
RFFIHAN T RANRAMNRLHEE
HARRFEERESHE - st BIRITER
NARBEIEARABESTRA
5524
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

/. EMIAZAABERAAEE

INSTRUMENTS (continued) L4k i\
Fair value hierarchy ARBEZSR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement :F%E“Rﬁﬁziiﬁlﬁnﬂlﬁﬂﬁ’&ﬁ
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: BEFEEXER:
Assets measured at fair value BAnBEAENEE
2020 2019
HKS HKS
BT BT
Bills receivables FE U 2= % .
— Fair value measurement using —UEARITHRE
significant observable inputs (Level 2) A SR
EITRANEE
stE (B24R) 38,164,180 -
Structured deposits ERETER
~ Fair value measurement using significant —UEKRAHRR
observable inputs (Level 2) LN 8
EITRANEE
stE (B24R) 3,904,728 57,954,216
Equity investment at fair value through BRARBESARE
other comprehensive income EEREZRAERE
— Fair value measurement using quoted — LB T I5RE
prices in active markets (Level 1) EITRANEE
== (F1HR) 1,306,520 8,990,647
The equity investment at fair value through other BARBEFAREEZERGEZ
comprehensive income investment is listed on the Taipei RAKENRBIERZR LT ©
Exchange.
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at FR20204F Fe20195E38331H » AEE
fair value as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. TEUARBEEAENEREHEE
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no _ L REIE020FI/NBLEEE > &
transfers of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level R B E K R B R B S5 AR B 58 04R
2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets ZEAABEFESHUARLEZA
and financial liabilities. BEH B3R ©
36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &£RtEMGEEEIEREE

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instrument comprises cash
and cash equivalents and equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main purpose
of this financial instrument is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
trade payables, other payables and amount due to a fellow
subsidiary.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

EENTESMTAAERS

MRS EEERUKRBAREMESA
HEZ2EAWGSEZRARE - ZEMT
ANTEENEECAEENEE -
AEEBEETRANHECEHEERE
& MEWER TR EWRE s HEME
R ~ FEATERR ~ B & R AR AT
—BRRKBARRIE -

AEFRTHTAEENTIERR
BIERAESER ~ FIRERE - SN
B EERARRAHESER - &
FERTURERANEELERBRN
BER > MRREIN T o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group
is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 18) as at 31 March 2020. The Group’s listed investments
are listed on the Taipei Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period. The market
equity indices for the following stock exchange, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the year were as follows:

3. REAMKRESEEERKE @

R EiR A
BREAEBEERZREEFZTSNA
ABEEBEISSKENERESHE
BEEET TR o 522020538 31
H> AEEEHIEEARAABE
AHE2EWEZRAKRE (MizE18)
EEMNRAEEREAR - AERM LT
REMNEBIEXR G LT » YRIRERE
HARANTIBREGE - UTEEXS
R REEH (FERRIBARE
HAKRMAZ S B HE) UEREEANDN
ZEERSHNREEMT :

31 March  High/low 31 March High/low
3838 ® & 38318 5K
2020 2020 2019 2019
Taiwan — Taiwan Exchange BE-/EXSZF
Capitalisation Weighted BA{bmE
Stock Index (“TAIEX”) EZEIEE 9,708 12,180/ 10,641 11,252/
8,681 9,383

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

TRARPHEREREQAAEBES

REUURIESH RAEEIREZ R &R »
DBERERRENRSHRNREE

JFH o
Carrying
amount Increase/
of equity (decrease)
investment in equity
S RSN
HEAREE / GR)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2020
Investments listed in: RUTH#AE EHHRE :
Taiwan - Equity investments designated at fair ~ & — {5 E AR AR 1,306,520  13,065/(13,065)
value through other comprehensive income BESAHEEZT
Wz RATE
2019
Investments listed in: RUT#ME EHRE
Taiwan - Equity investments designated at fair ~ &/& —i§E AKX AR 8,990,647  89,906/(89,906)
value through other comprehensive income EBEstAHEEZE
Wz AR E
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and interest-bearing bank borrowings with a floating
interest rate. The Group has not used any interest rate derivatives
to hedge its interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank borrowings).

36.

TRAMEEEEREE @

1 22 B
FEEEHRTBANREHERE
BHEAERRIIRFENHRER
IRITAERUR S BIRITERBM o &
EETEEREAMRITETANY
AHMNERRE RN ERERERE
HHERF AR -

TRAPEFMBHEEHFEFTL
SHER MXSETREHHAE
E R AR SR E (BT 8
ERFFRRESFERBUKRGER
TERNTZE) -

Increase/
(decrease) Increasel/(decrease)
in basis points in profit before tax
EHE PRI Al F
wgm, GEL) wgm, GRL)
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 100 270,808 521,572
RMB ARE 100 2,532,826 3,311,099
usb ETT 100 7 7
HK$ BT (100) (270,808) (521,572)
RMB AR (100) (2,532,826) (3,311,099)
usD x7T (100) (7) (7)
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 0.4% (2019:
0.4%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the operating units making the
sale.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

36.

THRAMEEEEREE @

55 L B

FEREERZEBER - B/H
R REEEEMRNEMINERR
DN B Z 55 © 490.4% (20194F :
04%) Z B EEHEBUETHEZE
EEMMNBMINREEREUINIEES
REEEAL -

TRABEFEHEEURET
IR MEER A DT BB
A 8 B PR AT R 74 35 SR O BRL
Eo

Change in Increase/
foreign (decrease)
currency in profit before
rate tax

5% BRERATEF
EREE #m (RL)

% HK$
BT

2020
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBTERTR 1 225,574
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HWEARBRBTERLH (1) (225,574)
If RMB weakens against AUD WEANRERRITERTEK 1 3,898
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEAREZRTER LA (1) (3,898)
If RMB weakens against MOP HEAREREREPITERTE 1 10,303
If RMB strengthens against MOP WEAREERMATEER EH (1) (10,303)

2019
If RMB weakens against HKD WEARBRBITERTEK 1 48,505
If RMB strengthens against HKD HWEARBRBTER LFH (1) (48,505)
If RMB weakens against AUD HEARERSRTERTE 1 54
If RMB strengthens against AUD WEARBRBRTER EH (1) (54)
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &RIEIMGEEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk EE R
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy FEEEEITREEREFNE
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who ZHETRZ  c AEBNBER
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification BEUGERRETRZNEFRITA
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on BIBEEZERRF o b9 > AR
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not FREEIFETIERE  AEBAIRRE
significant. AKX o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERRERFELEER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREINERAEBZEEHE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which ZEEEEREEEERAR  XEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REER (RIEEEENTERAN
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HEARBERBIHBZHZERTER) >
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross MUKRRIBIMB 2 EERSEE DT o FR2
carrying amounts for financial assets JNEEAETHMEENLIREE-
As at 31 March 2020 14202053831
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fEA M
EEi5HE SHEMEEBR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR B IR AR EoH
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade receivables* FE W R =X - - - 53,369,322 53,369,322
Bills receivables el Z1E 38,164,180 - - - 38,164,180
Financial assets included in FAERRE #E
prepayments, deposits and REERRZRZ
other receivables EHEE
- Normal** —E8" 8,833,291 - - - 8,833,291
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFAEEEER
~ Not yet past due — R 302,018,369 - - - 302,018,369
349,015,840 - - 53,369,322 402,385,162
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £REMETEBREREE @

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) REREREZEE (&)
As at 31 March 2019 1201943831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12181 A T HA
FEEE 2 PEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FPEE BMEEL B HERE st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
B BT B BT BT
Trade receivables* e AR TR - - - 69,778,370 69,778,370
Bills receivables K ER 8,516,061 - - - 8,516,061
Financial assets included in FARMRE &
prepayments, deposits and RECEKZRZ
other receivables EHMEE
- Normal** —Eg" 7,313,791 - - - 7,313,791
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEER
— Not yet past due — R EHA 384,908,930 - - - 384,908,930
400,738,782 - - 69,778,370 470,517,152
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MAEEEAHRERABEAEZEZ
approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is FEWERFME » EREETRZER
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements. BB 75 ¥R R MT 5E204% 28 o
* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, * FABEMRE -HEREEEKRRZ
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they TMEEZEEEENEMEMEE
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial WA R A EE  WRE R
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. TERESMEEZEERARBENE
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be HUAREEZIGM - B[R > BRAEME
“doubtful’. EZEEBEREAARE -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. REMETEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk mEE RS
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZBRSEEBFERERT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans ERKREEZRAREREUERFE
and projected cash flows from operations. EREEEREEE BT -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIBESTARMIRGR > AEE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual EMBERRSHRZIABERNT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2020
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREKXY
—EHF -Eif axm
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Trade payables FEfH RN 28,797,036 - 28,797,036
Other payables and accruals HEREARREFER 71,760,002 - 71,760,002
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEBITER 1,642,896 21,915,307 23,558,203
Lease liabilities HEEE 4449114 710,532 5,159,646
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary Eft—HRZHEBADZE 589,478 = 589,478
107,238,526 22,625,839 129,864,365
2019
On demand
or no later Tto
than 1 year 5 years Total
REXY,
—&ETF —-Enf iz
HK$ HKS HK$
B B B
Trade payables FEfTIRAR 31,801,584 - 31,801,584
Other payables and accruals HeROHKESER 87,306,458 - 87,306,458
Due to a fellow subsidiary EN—BRZHEARE 690,501 - 690,501
Due to a non-controlling shareholder B —RIFERRRTE 14,505,712 - 14505,712
134,304,255 - 134,304,255
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £REMETEBREREE @
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management BRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management FEBRBEAEENTEHEZZR R
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EAREEFELSNAESN  LRFE
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support BIEARLEE  ULZFHEBRMER
its business and maximise shareholders’ value. RREERAI -

The Group manages its capital structure and makes 75 £ B AR R A K I 2 Bl K AR
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and BEENRARHESEEELAGELEY
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or BE AT REERERE > &
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend B AERAKRRIKMOKESE s ARKRE
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue REBARFBITHRG - AEBFZE
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed ERIIMNEBFE IR E R ERFAIR « B E
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, 20204 K201953B3MHILEE » &1
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended BEANEBERE - RN EF M mEE o

31 March 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is rEBEFRERAEGGRLRZE (BIE
debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent. BRUBATIREREGER BRE
Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings. Capital includes o BHEAEASRITER - BELE
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as EBRATIRRELER - BERSH
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: RKNEXBBLEENT :

2020 2019
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 20,216,764 -
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATKRREGED 722,776,555 777,202,585
Gearing ratio EXRBMELEE 2.7% N/A R i

37. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 37. LE®EEE

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, LN BA TS ER R M sE2.2iE — iR
the Group adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 using the modified B> ANE E 2019548 1H A & &
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative FTIBME RN B B IREZER] 516
amounts in the financial statements were not restated and 5% o IRIRULF % » BT HRRPBEEER
continued to be reported under the requirements of the previous EEWESEY > WEBERIZLAIZER
standard, HKAS 17, and related interpretations. EEGHERFI7TR KB 2 ENR

ERE °

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETLHERBFEEMDE  UF

conform with the current year's presentation. BRFENZINAH
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38. STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  38. ZABZHIEIKRAER
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BEREARATNIREEAR Z B FA
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZERWT :
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
AT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENE E
Plant and equipment & BB R 5% 679,464 971,252
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,814,176 -
Due from subsidiaries AN N E ] 293,229,276 339,753,199
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZKRE 296,280,826 296,280,826
Total non-current assets ERBEELEE 594,003,742 637,005,277
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Deposits and other receivables BERETCRKER 2,410,630 3,051,662
Cash and cash equivalents REREEEEIER 155,381,853 141,210,367
Total current assets MENEEMEE 157,792,483 144,262,029
CURRENT LIABILITIES i R=N i
Other payables =i I NEN 6,714,601 5,572,919
Lease liabilities HEAaE 3,897,118 -
Due to a subsidiary eI B AR RRIE 409,415 4,297,506
Total current liabilities BB ELEE 11,021,134 9,870,425
NET CURRENT ASSETS mMBEERE 146,771,349 134,391,604
NET ASSETS HESE 740,775,091 747,396,881
EQUITY R
Share capital 15N 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves (Note) M (s 525,770,903 532,392,693
TOTAL EQUITY RS EE 740,775,091 747,396,881
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
XK Bk
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITEE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  38. ZABZMBRRE @
(continued)
Note: MIsE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KATHEBZBMENT ©
Capital Capital Exchange
Share  redemption  contribution fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
B =7 ER
RiyGEE  BOfEE M WEEE  REER X
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2018 12018548 1H 355,815,668 24,000 88,441,310  (10,786,089) 98,222,370 531,717,259
Profit for the year EERF - - - - 19321313 19,321,313
Exchange difference arising MEELZERES
on translation - - - (11,051,043) - (11,051,043
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AFEE 2 EUHE
k] - - - (11,051,043) 19,321,313 8,270,270
Repurchases of shares BER% (69,690) - - - - (69,690)
Transfer to reserve BEEHE (43,400) 43,400 - - - -
Final 2018 dividends declared EEIRNISERARKRE - - - - (7525146)  (7,525,146)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 12019538310 K&
201954818 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (21,837,132) 110,018,537 532,392,693
Profit for the year KEERF - - - - 5090833 5,090,833
Exchange difference arising on translation HBEEEZER =T - - - (9,347,517 - (9,347,517
Total comprehensive loss for the year rEERABBEE - - - (9,347,577)  5090,833  (4,256,744)
Final 2019 dividends declared EEIRIERARE - - - - (2,365046)  (2,365,046)
At 31 March 2020 202038318 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (31,184,709) 112,744,324 525,770,903
39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. MBHmRZHALE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2020.

BFSIRREM2020E6 24 A EE
FERERALAETIE -
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